
West Devon Hub 
Committee

Title: Agenda
Date: Tuesday, 24th April, 2018

Time: 2.00 pm

Venue: Chamber - Kilworthy Park

Full Members: Chairman Cllr Sanders
Vice Chairman Cllr Samuel

Members: Cllr Edmonds
Cllr Jory
Cllr Moody
Cllr Mott

Cllr Oxborough
Cllr Parker
Cllr Sampson

Interests – 
Declaration and 
Restriction on 
Participation:

Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
disclosable pecuniary interest not entered in the Authority's 
register or local non pecuniary interest which they have in any 
item of business on the agenda (subject to the exception for 
sensitive information) and to leave the meeting prior to 
discussion and voting on an item in which they have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest.

Committee 
administrator:

Member.Services@swdevon.gov.uk



Page No

1.  Apologies for absence 

2.  Declarations of Interest

Members are invited to declare any personal or disclosable 
pecuniary interests, including the nature and extent of such interests 
they may have in any items to be considered at this meeting.

If Councillors have any questions relating to predetermination, bias 
or interests in items on this Agenda, then please contact the 
Monitoring Officer in advance of the meeting.

3.  Items Requiring Urgent Attention
To consider those items which, in the opinion of the Chairman, 
should be considered by the Meeting as matters of urgency (if 
any)

4.  Confirmation of Minutes
Minutes of meeting held 13 March 2018

1 - 6

5.  Public Questions -a period of up to 15 minutes is available 
to deal with issues raised by the public 

6.  Lead Member Update - Cllr Sampson 

7.  Corporate Strategy - Cllr Sanders 7 - 12

8.  Annual Report - Cllr Sanders 13 - 28

9.  Regulatory Reform Policy on Disabled Facilities Grants - 
Cllr Moody 

29 - 58

10.  Development Management Pre Application Advice - Cllr 
Mott

59 - 80

PART TWO ITEMS WHICH MAY BE TAKEN IN THE ABSENCE OF 
THE PUBLIC AND PRESS ON THE GROUNDS THAT EXEMPT 

INFORMATION IS LIKELY TO BE DISCLOSED (if any)
If any, the Committee is recommended to pass the following resolution:

“RESOLVED that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 
1972, the public be excluded from the Meeting on the grounds that 
exempt information may be disclosed as defined in the paragraphs given 
in Schedule 12A to the Act.”



Page No

This document can be made available in large 
print, Braille, tape format, other languages or 
alternative format upon request. Please contact the 
Committee section on 01822 813664 or email 
darryl.white@swdevon.gov.uk

mailto:darryl.white@swdevon.gov.uk




At a Meeting  of the HUB COMMITTEE  held at the Council  Chamber, 
Council Offices, Kilworthy Park, Drake Road, TAVISTOCK on TUESDAY 
the 13th day of MARCH, 2018 at 2.00pm 

 
Present:                             Cllr P R Sanders – Chairman 
      Cllr L Samuel – Vice Chairman 

  
Cllr C Edmonds     Cllr N Jory  
Cllr C Mott   Cllr J Moody 
Cllr R Oxborough   Cllr R F D Sampson  

 
In attendance:       Executive Director (Service Delivery and Commercial 

Development) 
 Section 151 Officer 
 Group Manager Commercial Services 
 Commissioning Manager Waste 
 Senior Specialist Waste Strategy and Commissioning 
 Operational Manager Environment Services 
 Senior Specialist Environment Services 
 CoP Lead Development Management 
 Group Manager Business Development 
 CoP Lead Assets 

Specialist Democratic Services 
 

Other Members in attendance: 

 
Cllrs Cheadle, Cann OBE, Lamb, Leech, Moyse, 
Musgrave, Pearce, Sellis, and Yelland 

 
   
*HC 65 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members were invited to declare any interests in the items of business to be 
discussed and the following were made: 
 
Cllr N Jory declared a personal interest in agenda item 6: Lead Member 
Update, by virtue of Cllr Oxborough mentioning the Business Information 
Point and Cllr Jory being employed by the Business Information Point. As the 
agenda item was an update item with no decisions being made, Cllr Jory 
remained in the room for this item. 
 

*HC 66          URGENT BUSINESS 
Since this was the first Hub Committee meeting following the resignation of 
Cllr Parker from this Committee, Members formally noted this position.  In 
terms of the future arrangements, the Chairman confirmed that the Political 
Structures Working Group had been tasked with reviewing the future 
structure of the Hub Committee.  A report would be presented in due course.   

 
*HC 67          MINUTES 

The Minutes of the Hub Committee meeting held on 6 February 2018 were 
confirmed and signed by the Chairman as a correct record.  

 
*HC 68          LEAD MEMBER UPDATE – CLLR OXBOROUGH 

Cllr Oxborough updated the Committee on his area of responsibility including 
the following: 

• Awards of the Rate Relief Panel 

• General Business Rate Relief and the split awarded to organisations; 



• Rural economy and the need to understand the impact of Brexit; 

• Employment and the importance of creating opportunities; 

• Okehampton business centre; 

• Teenage market and the current planning for a new event; and 

• Business Information Point 
 

Cllr Oxborough agreed to circulate further details.  The Leader asked if he 
could include any feedback from businesses regarding the rate relief 
process. 

 
 HC 69          2018/19 TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 

Members were presented with a report that sought approval and 
recommendation to Council of the 2018/19 Treasury Management and 
Investment Strategies together with their associated prudential indicators.  
 
The Lead Member for Resources and Performance introduced the report and 
the s151 Officer responded to questions of clarity. 

 
It was then RESOLVED that Council be RECOMMENDED that: 

1) The Prudential Indicators and limits for 2018/19 to 2020/21 
contained with Appendix A of the presented report be approved; 

2) The Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) statement contained 
within Appendix A which sets out the Council’s policy on MRP 
approved; 

3) The Treasury Management Strategy for 2018/19 and the treasury 
prudential indicators 2018/19 to 2020/21 contained within 
Appendix B be approved; and 

4) The Investment Strategy 2018/19 Appendix C and the detailed 
criteria included in Appendix D (and the counter party list shown in 
Appendix E) be approved. 

 
 
HC 70           WASTE POLICIES REVIEW 

Members were presented with a report that sought approval of policy updates 
recommended by the Waste Working Group, following a review of current 
practice in conjunction with industry best practice. 
 
The Lead Member for Commercial Services introduced the report and advised 
of minor corrections.  Officers confirmed that the procurement process was 
proceeding and evaluation of tenders was in process. 

 
  It was then RESOLVED that Council be RECOMMENDED that: 
 

1) the policy updates as recommended by the Waste Working Group, 
outlined in paragraph 5 of the presented report and provided in full at 
Appendix 1 be approved, subject to inclusion of the minor changes 
referred to in the minutes above; and 

2) those minor changes considered necessary to the terms as 
highlighted are delegated to the Commissioning Manager (Waste) in 
consultation with the Lead Member for Commercial Services, Chair 
of the Waste Working Group. 

 
 
 



 HC 71           WEST DEVON PARKING STRATEGY 
Members were presented with a report that requested consideration of the 
West Devon Parking Strategy as proposed and recommended for approval 
by the West Devon Parking Strategy Group.  The report further sought 
approval to amend the Pay and Display charges in accordance with the 
schedule presented at Appendix B, and permits presented at Appendix C, 
provided as a result of discussion with the Car Parking Strategy Group. 

 
The Lead Member for Commercial Services introduced the report.  There 
was some discussion regarding the first recommendation, and minor 
changes were proposed to the document and accepted.  In respect of the 
second recommendation, the Lead Member advised the meeting of the 
views of the Car Parking Strategy Group who were not in support of the 
recommendation in any form which suggested tariff increases. The Lead 
Member suggested an amendment to the original recommendation and this 
was PROPOSED, SECONDED and on being put to the vote declared 
CARRIED.   
 
Members had a detailed discussion regarding the requirement to meet the 
wider costs associated with car parks such as elements of the maintenance 
of the public realm which support the car parking service in town and village 
centres.  The Lead Member made reference to the invaluable work carried 
out by the Car Parking Strategy Group, and, in response to questions raised, 
confirmed that car park charges needed to be regularly monitored and 
reviewed. 
 

 
It was then RESOLVED that Council be RECOMMENDED that: 

 
1) The West Devon Parking Strategy (presented at Appendix A) be 

adopted; and 
2) Pay and Display charges be amended in accordance with 

presented Appendix B, excepting Market Street, Okehampton 
where charges remain unchanged, and presented Appendix C.  
The changes proposed within Appendix B allow for innovative tariff 
setting to be tested where sustainable solutions have been 
brought forward by the advisory Car Parking Strategy Group, and, 
providing they do not affect the ability to achieve service 
sustainability, will come back to be presented to Hub Committee. 

 
 
*HC 72          IMPLICATIONS OF THE COUNCIL BEING DESIGNATED FOR 

PLANNING PERFORMANCE – QUALITY OF DECISIONS 
Members were presented with a report that set out the background to the 
possibility that the Council could be designated by the Secretary of State with 
respect to its performance against the criteria for quality of decision making 
for Major planning applications in 2018 and 2019.  The report further set out 
the possible consequences to the Council should designation be confirmed. 
 
The Lead Member for Customer First introduced the report.  The CoP Lead 
Development Management responded to questions of clarity and confirmed 
that the biggest issue for West Devon BC was the low number of major 
applications that were presented to the authority for determination.  Following 
discussion, it was suggested that Members may wish to raise with their local 
MPs the impact of a strict 10% cut off where an authority deals with a low 
number of Major planning applications each year. 

 



It was then: 
 

RESOLVED  
That the potential risks to the Council of designation in respect of 
quality of Major planning application decisions be noted. 

 
HC 73           FINANCIAL STABILITY UPDATE 

(Paragraph 3 – Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information) 

 
Members were presented with a report that set out the findings, conclusions 
and recommendations of the Financial Stability Group. 
 
The Lead Member for Assets introduced the report in his role as Chairman of 
the Group. 

 
It was then RESOLVED that: 
 
a) The contents of the report be noted and its use as the basis for Member 

workshops to discuss the Medium Term Financial Strategy to take place 
as soon as possible in the next financial planning cycle be approved; 
 

b) Council be RECOMMENDED to formally approve the establishment of a 
Financial Stability Review Group to: 

a. Oversee and coordinate activity to reduce costs and generate 
income as set out in the report and as identified in future; 

b. Act as a forum for generating and developing ideas for reducing 
costs and generating income; 

c. Link the ideas and activities of Members and officers in this area; 
and 

d. Report to Hub Committee as appropriate. 
 
 
HC 74            KILWORTHY PARK – ACCOMMODATION REPORT 

(Paragraph 3 – Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any   
particular person (including the authority holding that information)) 

 
 Members were presented with a report that looked at the options for 
improving the financial position associated with Kilworthy Park. 
 
The Lead Member for Assets introduced the report. 
 
It was then: 
 
  RESOLVED that the Council be RECOMMENDED:  
 

that officers, in consultation with the Lead Member for Assets should 
investigate and promote the most beneficial use of the Kilworthy Park 
site in accordance with the principles set out in the presented report. 

 
(The meeting terminated at 5.55 pm) 

 
 

_____________ 
Chairman 

 



 





Report to: Hub Committee 

Date: 24 April 2018 

Title: CORPORATE STRATEGY REVIEW 

Portfolio Area: Leader of the Council 

Wards Affected: All Wards 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee:  Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

      

 

Urgent Decision:  N Approval and 

clearance obtained: 

Y 

Date next steps can be taken: 

(e.g. referral on of recommendation or 
implementation of substantive decision) 

 

Council 

22 May 2018 

Author: Nadine Trout Role: Commissioning Manager  

Contact: Nadine.Trout@swdevon.gov.uk 01822 813624 

 
 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the Hub Committee RECOMMENDS to Council to Adopt and 

publish the West Devon Corporate Strategy (as presented at 
Appendix A)  

1.  Executive summary  

1.1 This report is presented by the Leader of the Council and reviews 
the Council’s progress in refreshing the Council’s Corporate 
Strategy. 

 
1.2 Appendix A provides a new, refreshed and more focussed 5 year 

Corporate Strategy which reflects the views of the Member led 
Corporate Strategy Task & Finish Group; and comments from all 
Member workshops and survey responses.  

 
 

2.  Background  
2.1 The current corporate strategy (Our Plan) was devised in 2014 prior 

to the Council’s significant transformation programme.  It is 
therefore considered timely to refresh the strategy to best reflect 
reduced resources and a more focused service provision. 

 



2.2 A Member Working Group was established in January 2018 
comprising Cllr Roberts as Chairman, supported by working group 

members Cllr Samuel, Cllr Mott, Cllr Cloke, Cllr Musgrave and Cllr 
Leech. 

 
2.3 The Working Group devised a number of strategy recommendations 

including when it should start and finish and key themes.  These 

recommendations were presented at an all Member Workshop on 
27 February 2018 at which 13 Members were in attendance. 

 
2.4 The workshop was followed up by an online survey which was 

distributed to all Members, to encourage individual Member views 

and track where possible common consensus.  24 Members 
completed the survey with a clear majority supporting the ideas 

presented by the Working Group at the workshop. 
 
2.5 A second workshop was held on the 13 March 2018 at which 

Members were asked to consider targets under key corporate 
themes.  The workshop was followed by a Working Group meeting 

on the 27 March 2018 which resulted in endorsement of the themes 
detailed in Appendix A. 

  
3  Outcomes/outputs  
3.1 This report shows significant Member involvement in the 

compilation of the proposed new strategy detailed in appendix A.  
  

3.2 The proposed new strategy better reflects the current resourcing of 
the authority and acknowledges the challenges faced. 
    

 
4  Options available and consideration of risk  

4.1 Constitutionally in accordance with the Council’s Delegation Scheme 
only the Council may exercise the following functions: 
 

- To determine the Council’s Priorities; and 
- To approve and adopt or amend the Council’s Policy Framework. 

 
4.2 The Constitution is currently under review it therefore considered 
 timely to review the corporate strategy and priorities at this time. 

 
4.3 To do nothing and not change the current strategy could result in 

 reputational harm as we would be promoting priorities that don’t 
 match our current resources and procedures. 

 

 
5. Proposed Way Forward  

5.1 It is proposed that the contents of the report and appendix A are 
endorsed. 
 

  



6.  Implications  
 

Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  

proposals  
Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 
 

Y Hub Committee has a responsibility to provide 
Leadership to the overall activities of the Council. 

 

Financial 

 

N There are no financial implications as a result of 

this report that have not already been budgeted 
for.   

Risk Y A failure to review and publish a Corporate 
Strategy could lead to:  
Lack of coherent policy and delivery 

Reputational harm 
Ineffective use of resources 

Poor quality service 
These risks are mitigated by:  
Review of this report. 

 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 

 

Equality and 

Diversity 
 

 None – no policy or service change is proposed in 

this report. 

Safeguarding 
 

 None – no policy or service change is proposed in 
this report. 

 

Community 
Safety, Crime 

and Disorder 
 

 None – no policy or service change is proposed in 
this report. 

 
 

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing 

 None – no policy or service change is proposed in 
this report. 

 

Other 

implications 

 The publication of a refreshed Corporate Strategy 

may help understanding of the Council’s position 
and the way it operates amongst partners and the 
public. 

 

 

Supporting Information 
 

Appendices: 
A:  Draft West Devon Corporate Strategy 





Litter

Food

Food
Inspector

BOTTLE

30

Litter

STOP

West Devon Street 69

West Devon
Borough
Council

5 year Corporate Strategy 2018 - 2023

ENVIRONMENT
Protecting, conserving

and enhancing our
built and natural

environment

COUNCIL

Delivering
efficient and 
effective services

ENTERPRISE

Creating places for
enterprise to thrive
and business to grow

Council and residents
working together to

create strong and
empowered communities

COMMUNITIES

Supporting positive,
safe and healthy

lifestyles and helping
those most in need

WELLBEING

HOMES

Enabling homes
that meet the
needs of all

How we will measure success

u

u

u

u

u

Provide key performance indicators for each corporate strategy theme

Benchmark performance against national standards 

Monitor progress quarterly through our Overview & Scrutiny process

Refine service standards through targeted annual delivery plans

Report annually through our Annual Report process

Our Challenges

u

u

u

u

u

Withdrawal of core central government funding

Setting a balanced budget without cutting statutory services

High house prices and a dwindling working age population

Managing development without compromising our high quality 
natural and built environment 

It costs more to deliver services in a rural area

Our Guiding Principles

u

u

u

u

Provide value for money and good customer service

Be open, honest, listening and responsive

Work with partners and communities for mutual benefit

Be open minded and embrace change

Our Core Purpose

To make a positive impact on the lives of local people by 
providing valued and easy to use services. Corporate Strategy Themes

Council





Report to: Hub Committee 

Date: 24 April 2018 

Title: ANNUAL REPORT 

Portfolio Area: Leader of the Council 

Wards Affected: All Wards 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee:  Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

      

 

Urgent Decision:  N Approval and 

clearance obtained: 

Y 

Date next steps can be taken: 

(e.g. referral on of recommendation or 
implementation of substantive decision) 

 

Council 

22 May 2018 

Author: Nadine Trout Role: Commissioning Manager  

Contact: Nadine.Trout@swdevon.gov.uk 01822 813624 

 
 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the Hub Committee RECOMMENDS to Council to: 

1.  Note the progress and achievements made by the 
 Council   

 
2.  Adopt and publish the West Devon Annual Report (as 

 presented at Appendix A) for the financial year 17/18 

1.  Executive summary  

 
1.1 This report is presented by the Leader of the Council and reviews 

the Council’s progress over the last financial year.  The Annual 
Report is presented at Appendix A. 

 

1.2 It is good practice to review the Council’s progress across a range 
of internal and external activities as well as providing a public 

record.  
 

1.3 Finally the report sets the scene for the upcoming year ahead.    
 
 

 



 
2.  Background  

2.1 The last financial year has been one of significant change for this 
Council.  It is appropriate to take stock of the key issues, successes 

and challenges met by the Council and how they have been 
addressed.   

 

2.2 It is also important to look at the impact on residents, communities 
and our organisation. 

 
2.3 It is usual to provide an annual report as an externally facing 

document, which along with its Annual Governance Statement 

should help reassure the public that the Council is undertaking its 
statutory functions, delivering its services and meeting its financial 

responsibilities in an open and transparent way.  
 
2.4 This is a public report and is in line with our requirements to be 

open and accountable. 
 

2.5 The report aims to help Members, the public and our staff to better 
understand the Council’s activities and approach to delivering 

services to our community. 
  
3.  Outcomes/outputs  

3.1 This report shows significant progress made throughout 17/18 and 
 also acknowledges the challenges that have been faced over the 

 past months.   
 
3.2 Financial targets are on track, savings have been realised and the 

 Council’s internal controls are fit for purpose. (Note, the £x 
 featuring on page 3 of the report will be replaced by true figures 

 once the draft Accounts 2017/18 are published at the end of May). 
 

3.3 The report acknowledges that there has been significant changes to 

 systems to drive efficiencies and service improvements. 
 

3.4 2018/19 will see continued focus on digital technology to provide 
 customers with a variety of choices on how to access services and 
 do business with the Council. This is as well as a review of waste 

 provision and other key frontline services. 
 

4.  Options available and consideration of risk  
4.1 Constitutionally, the Leader of Council is required to provide an 

annual report and it is good practice to do so.    

 
4.2 An alternative to the report could be a verbal report from the 

Leader at Council but it is considered better to have a formal 
document accessible to the public and published online. 

 

5. Proposed Way Forward  
5.1 It is proposed that the contents of the report are endorsed. 

 



5.2 Members’ views on the presentation and content of the report 
would be helpful to inform the Annual Report before final 

publication. 
 

 
6.  Implications  
 

Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  

proposals  
Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 
 

Y Hub Committee has a responsibility to provide 
Leadership to the overall activities of the Council. 

Constitutionally, the Leader of Council is required 
to provide an annual report and it is good practice 
to do so.    

Financial 
 

N There are no direct financial implications as a result 
of this report.   

Risk Y A failure to review and publish Council 
achievements and future actions could lead to:  

Lack of coherent policy and delivery 
Reputational harm 

Ineffective use of resources 
Poor quality service 
These risks are mitigated by:  

Review of this Annual Report. 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 

 

Equality and 

Diversity 

 None – no policy or service change is proposed in 

this report. 

Safeguarding 

 

 None – no policy or service change is proposed in 

this report.  

Community 

Safety, Crime 
and Disorder 

 None – no policy or service change is proposed in 

this report. 
 

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing 

 None – no policy or service change is proposed in 
this report. 

Other 
implications 

 However the publication of the Annual Report may 
help understanding of the Council’s position and 
the way it operates amongst partners and the 

public. 

 

Supporting Information 
 

Appendices: 
A: The Annual Report 





2017 - 2018

www.westdevon.gov.uk

Appendix A

West Devon
Annual Report 

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT

DRAFT



2

West Devon Borough Council - Annual Report 2017-2018

Introduction Commitment
to Joint Local 

Plan

£2.2m
annual saving

No 
services to 

communities 
removed

The 2017/18 fi nancial year has undoubtedly 
been a challenging year with the main central 
government funding for local councils coming 
to an end on 1st April 2018. We have however, 
continued to work in partnership with 
South Hams District Council which has allowed 
West Devon Borough Council to achieve annual 
savings of £2.2 million and more importantly 
protect all statutory services.

During the year we have been unrelenting in 
seeking and attempting to deliver effi  ciencies and 
improving services. We have done this by adopting 
innovative IT solutions and these digital services 
have signifi cantly reduced the number of calls 
we received as well as giving our residents and 
customers more choice on how and when they 
access our services.

Signifi cant improvements have been made to the 
majority of the services we provide and we have 
seen a consistent improvement in the processing 
of planning applications and housing benefi t 
processing times. The Council has made substantial 
progress in designing services which are more in 
line with our customers’ requirements and as far 
as possible are future proofed. Our staff  continue 
to strive for positive change and they, together 
with the Councillors, are proud of what we have 
achieved in 2017/18.

Whilst we were disappointed that the proposed 
merger into a single local authority with South 
Hams did not go ahead, the year has also seen 
the Council make good progress with the Joint 
Local Plan, by working together with South Hams 
District, and Plymouth City Councils. The Joint 
Local Plan is a strategic planning document which 
sets out development and growth up until 2034 
and will set home building and job targets for all 
three authorities. The plan has just gone through 
its public examination and at this stage we are 

confi dent that 
the plan will be 
supported by the 
Inspectors and is on 
track to be adopted 
later this year. 

The Council has 
continued to play an 
infl uential role in sub regional debate on a number 
of key topics including devolution and productivity 
and continues to work closely with the Heart of the 
South West Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) to 
secure Growth Deals to facilitate economic growth, 
job creation and prosperity in the area.

Sophie Hosking
Executive Director and 

Head of Paid Service

Cllr Philip Sanders
Leader of the Council



3

West Devon Borough Council - Annual Report 2017-2018

Finance
The Council’s net budget has 
decreased from £7.4 million in 
2017/18 to £7.3 million in 2018/19. The 
money that the Council receives in 
Government Grant funding (Revenue 
Support Grant) has been reduced to 
nil for 2018/19 and the Council will 
need to be self-suffi  cient. 

The withdrawal of Government funding has 
happened two years earlier than originally 
expected. The Council is facing a budget gap of 
£0.75 million by 2019/20 and this increases to £0.95 
million by 2020/21 which the Council is planning 
to cover through a combination of generating 
income through business development, ensuring 
maximum use of its assets and further reduction
in costs.

To secure the future of Council services to the 
public, the Council has increased council tax by 
£6.52 from £218.39 in 2017/18. This means that the 
cost of West Devon Borough Council’s services for 
an average band D property will be £224.91 for 
2018/19. The Council has committed to protecting 
frontline services where possible.

How your Council Tax is spent

1 Includes Recycling and Waste Resource, Public Conveniences, Car Parks and Transport
2 Includes Housing, Planning, Environmental Health and the administration of Council Tax, 

Business Rates and Benefi ts

The Council’s spending plans for 
2017/18 and 2018/19

(compared to  last year)
All fi gures are gross (£000), 
the total amount we spend

Financial performance for the year 
to 31st March 2018

The 2017/18 budget for West Devon was £7.42 
million but the actual spend for the year is 
predicted to be XX% lower, providing a saving 
of £XX,000 which will go into the Council’s 
Unearmarked  Reserves which will stand at £X.XX 
million. The Council’s fi nancial strategy recognises 
the need to maintain these reserves to provide 
stability for both medium and longer term fi nancial 
planning and to provide a contingency against 
unforeseen events.  Maintaining a level of reserves 
also protects against the volatility of some income 
and expenditure budgets which can be dependent 
on economic conditions, the weather and tourism.

The Council continues to share staff  with South 
Hams District Council. Over the last two years, 
West Devon Borough Council has generated 
ongoing annual savings of £2.2 million from a 
joint Transformation Programme (T18) and sharing 
services with South Hams District Council. The 
Councils’ shared workforce has been reduced by 
30% through the T18 Programme and processes 
have been redesigned around the customer. The 
radical programme has changed how the Councils’ 
work, to deliver more effi  ciencies and to retain the 
Councils’ front line services.

(compared to 

2018/19
£25.2m

Total gross
budget

 last year)

2017/18
£24.8m

Total gross
budget



4

West Devon Borough Council - Annual Report 2017-2018



5

West Devon Borough Council - Annual Report 2017-2018



6

West Devon Borough Council - Annual Report 2017-2018

Organisational Effectiveness
Throughout the year we have continued to improve performance to 
meet the needs of our customers.

We have continued to drive improvements by looking 
at the experience of our customers when they request 
or access our services. The year has seen the Council 
use social media in a much more proactive manner 
and coupled with our continued development of our 
localities service, with officers running roadshows in 
the community, we have engaged with and informed 
people at the right time. This approach, along with 
continued investment in simple to use IT systems, 
has in turn led to a significant reduction in call 
volumes and a drop in the number of people visiting 
our offices. As a result we have seen reductions in 
timescales for the delivery of almost all our services.

Our Workforce

West Devon Borough Council and South Hams District 
Council directly employ 274.5 full time equivalent 
staff to deliver shared services. West Devon Borough 
Council also has a contracted workforce which delivers 
a large number of frontline services.  Staff throughout 
the Councils continue to perform well with sickness 
levels below the national average. HR policies allow 
a fair relationship between employer and employee 
and regular staff briefings and an online staff appraisal 
system ensures staff are up to speed with Council 
priorities; and able to evidence their achievements 
and identify any training needs. Both Councils are 
committed to providing opportunities to young 
people and currently have 5 apprentices.

Audit Assurance

The Council has a number of measures in place 
to assess its performance. An Audit Committee 
meets five times a year and its role is to provide 
an oversight of the financial reporting and audit 
processes plus the system of internal controls and 
compliance with laws and regulations. The

Council also has two internal audit staff managed 
by the Devon Audit Partnership who provide an 
opinion on the internal control environment and 
governance processes.

External audit is provided by KPMG who in 2017 
reported that they were satisfied that in all significant 
respects the Council has put in place proper 
arrangements to secure economy, efficiency, and 
effectiveness in its use of resources.

Risk Management

There is a culture of risk ownership and management 
throughout the Council throughout 2017/18 particular 
focus has been given to health and safety and 
information security. Risks are logged centrally and 
are updated regularly. For each risk, the uncertainties 
are identified, along with the consequences, 
likelihood of occurrence and strategic impacts that 
would result. The Council’s Senior Leadership Team 
review the corporate risk log monthly and updates 
are reported to Elected Members via the Audit 
Committee on a biannual basis. Elected Members 
also have the opportunity to raise concerns with the 
mitigating actions being taken by officers and can 
suggest new risks for consideration.

Governance

The Council has a Governance Framework which 
comprises of the systems, processes, culture and values 
under which they operate. This is in place to ensure 
transparent decision making and proper use of public 
funds and is reported on annually through the Annual 
Governance Statement. In addition to the controls and 
procedures mentioned above, the Council’s primary 
governance documents are set out in the Constitution 
(for example, Contract Procedure Rules, Financial 
Procedure Rules and Codes of Governance). The 
Constitution is reviewed annually and adopted at the 
Annual Meeting for the forthcoming year. The Council 
has a Report Monitoring process in which all reports are 
checked against the principles of clarity, fairness, legality, 
and financial regularity and soundness. The Statutory 
Officers’ Panel (comprising the Councils’ key governance 
officers) carries out a rolling review of the Council’s 
core policy documents and processes to ensure that 
they are kept updated, relevant and effective.



7

West Devon Borough Council - Annual Report 2017-2018

Performance 2017/18
Housing 
benefi t claims 
processing times 
4 days faster 
than the national 
average

Online 
transactions 
increased by 
120% to 45,000 
transactions

Missed waste 
collections equate 
to 68 in every 
100,000

Non major 
planning 
determinations 
delivered on 
time 90%

Call volume 
decreased by 21%

For a list of council services visit

www.westdevon.gov.uk
Click on the View all our services link on the home page.

To track the Council’s progress throughout the year visit

www.westdevon.gov.uk
Search for Councillors and Committees, Overview & Scrutiny Panel.



West Devon Borough Council - Annual Report 2017-2018

Strategies & Plans
The Council has a number of strategic documents and plans that guide its 
approach to achieving its vision to serve local communities and ensure that it 
remains fi nancially sustainable. 

Corporate Strategy

During 2017/18 the Council reviewed 
its Corporate Strategy and as a result 
has set the opposite six themes for the 
next 5 years.  

Achievements against each of these 
themes can be found on pages 9-11 
of this report.

Joint Local Plan

A key responsibility of the Council is to 
maintain an up to date development plan. The Joint 
Local Plan, prepared in conjunction with South 
Hams and Plymouth Councils sets out a strategy 
and detailed policies that establish a framework 
to steer housing and employment development 
to the most sustainable locations and to guide 
decisions on planning applications.

Following a six week consultation period on the 
pre-submission draft plan in March/April 2017, 
the Councils submitted the Joint Local Plan to 
the Secretary 
of State on 31 
July 2017 for 
Examination.  
The Inspector 
appointed 
to test the 
soundness of 
the plan held 
public hearings 
in Winter/Spring 
2018 as part of 
the Examination. 
It is hoped the 
Joint Local Plan 
will be adopted 
later this year.

Medium Term Financial Strategy

Looks at fi nancial planning and management for a 
5 year period. This helps us to develop a sustainable 
budget over the medium term. It incorporates key 
factors such as changes in Government funding, 
our spending plans, and the levels of savings we 
need to make to achieve a balanced budget.

The Asset Management Plan

Sets out the strategic direction for the Council 
both as a land owner and with respect to its asset 
portfolio. It is essential to have a long term plan, to 
facilitate day to day operational decisions. The key 
points of the plan are to: 

 commence a limited programme of residential 
development

 grow the existing commercial portfolio of small 
starter units

 facilitate community use of assets if 
appropriate

 dispose of underperforming and nonstrategic 
assets for re-investment

maintain an up to date development plan. The Joint 
Local Plan, prepared in conjunction with South 

8

PLYMOUTH &
SOUTH WEST
DEVON JOINT
LOCAL PLAN

2014-2034

SUBMISSION
JULY 2017

produced by West Devon Borough Council, South
Hams District Council and Plymouth City Council

ECONOMY

ARTS, CULTURE
& HERITAGE

GETTING
AROUND

EDUCATION
& LEARNING

LOCAL
COMMUNITY

LIVING &
HOUSING

HEALTH &
WELLBEING

GREENSPACE &
ENVIRONMENT



West Devon Borough Council - Annual Report 2017-2018

Achievements 2017/18
COUNCIL        Delivering effi  cient and eff ective services

Action 17/18 Progress

Customer 
Service

Proactive use of social media, roadshows and simple to use IT systems, has led to a 
signifi cant reduction in call volumes and a drop in the number of people visiting our 
offi  ces. Thanks to agile IT provision and improved business continuity and emergency 
response planning the Beast from the East weather event made little impact to our usual 
service delivery.

Value for 
Money

As part of the budget setting process for 2018/19, we have agreed to reduce funding or 
seek effi  ciencies to ensure statutory delivery outcomes are prioritised. During the year 
by working collaboratively with other Devon districts we have reviewed our insurance 
contract which has resulted in a £30,000 saving.

Lobbying Participated in a number of consultations during the year, including capital investment and 
borrowing; business rate retention; the formation of the Heart of the South West Productivity 
Strategy and Joint Committee and the Fair Funding Review. The Council has also been 
accepted as one of only 10 new business rate retention pilots in England for 2018/19.

Investment During the year, we adopted and commenced implementation of a commercial property 
acquisition strategy. This strategy has multiple objectives, including helping the Council 
to deliver and/or improve frontline services; support regeneration and the economic 
activity of the borough, LEP area and the South West peninsula; enhance economic 
benefi t/business rate growth, and; as an ancillary benefi t, assist with the fi nancial 
sustainability of the Council.  We are also undertaking research in with the LGA (Local 
Government Association) into investment in housing, aff ordable housing and the private 
rented sector. 

COMMUNITIES Council and residents working together 
 to create strong empowered communities

Action 17/18 Progress

Community Project 
Grants

£23,562 given to 9 projects ranging from renovations to village halls, replacing play 
equipment and community picnic benches.

Town and Parish 
(TAP) Funding

£62,571 awarded to 30 community projects including village notice boards, play park 
refurbishment and Devon Air Ambulance night landing sites.

Seamoor 
Community Lotto

Agreement secured to proceed with a Council led lottery in partnership with South 
Hams District Council and Gatherwell Ltd. to support good causes locally.

Community 
Support

Provided core funding support to a range of local organisation providing services to local 
communities including the Citizens Advice, CVS (Community Volunteer Service), Ring 
and Rides, Okehampton Community and Recreation Association and Young Devon. 

9



West Devon Borough Council - Annual Report 2017-2018

HOMES Enabling homes that meet 
 the needs of all

Action 17/18 Progress

Aff ordable housing 24 aff ordable homes were completed in North Tawton. Construction has also 
started on 10 aff ordable homes in Horrabridge and 6 aff ordable homes in South 
Tawton.  A further 39 aff ordable homes are under construction throughout West 
Devon by working in partnership with developers and housing providers.

Disabled facility 
grants

Awarded over £213,300 to 45 projects to facilitate independent living through 
adaptation of homes including level shower access, stair lifts and rails. 

Community Housing 
Initiative

£250,000 Community Housing Fund targeting homes for those with local 
connection where the cost of market housing beyond their reach. Internal 
resource in place and standardised delivery processes being adopted to bring 
forward a growing number of projects across West Devon.

10

ENVIRONMENT Protecting, conserving and enhancing 
 our built and natural environment

Action 17/18 Progress

Joint Local Plan Conducted 8 community engagement events and invited formal representations 
on the pre-submission plan.  Those representations have been considered by the 
Inspector.

Waste and Recycling To improve recycling collections we have been replacing our old, ineffi  cient 
vehicles as they have come to the end of their useful life. The new vehicles 
can collect higher volumes of recycling which enables us to collect from more 
properties before the need for emptying which is more cost eff ective and 
reduces the impact on our environment.  We have also introduced a more 
streamlined garden waste service specifi cally tailored for those residents who 
use the service. 

Tavistock Town 
Heritage Initiative

Contributed to this partnership initiative securing £316,457 to date from the 
Heritage Lottery Fund, restoring 3 listed buildings in 2017/18 including the 
Pannier Market.  Further conservation schemes and public realm enhancements 
planned for 2018/19.



West Devon Borough Council - Annual Report 2017-2018

ENTERPRISE Creating places for enterprise to thrive 
 and business to grow

Action 17/18 Progress

Greater Dartmoor 
LEAF (Local Enterprise 
Action Fund)

£265,624 awarded in the past 12 months to 10 projects which are expected to 
generate 22.6 FTE jobs.  Projects include premises refurbishment, equipment 
investment and business expansion.

Business Support Funded a business support package which has delivered advice to over 
50 businesses, hosted 8 workshops and assisted businesses to recruit over 
65 employees.  

Teenage Market Working in partnership with Tavistock College and Tavistock Town Council we 
launched the fi rst Teenage Market in Tavistock.  Providing young people the 
opportunity to hone their business skills and show their entrepreneurial fl air.

Council owned 
premises

Achieved an average of 89% occupancy rate for all Council owned employment 
premises.

Sub Regional 
Productivity Plan

Worked with the Heart of the South West LEP authorities on the draft 
productivity plan through a series of workshops, consultations and research 
phases. A joint committee has now been formed to formulate a delivery plan to 
underpin the strategy. This work is expected to continue through 2018/19.

11

WELLBEING Supporting positive, safe and healthy lifestyles 
 and helping those most in need

Action 17/18 Progress

Community Safety 
Partnership

Part funded the Fire Service Phoenix Project and worked with a dozen hard to 
reach young people. Held quarterly workshops with 3 local secondary schools. 
Worked with 2 schools on the Run, Hide, Tell campaign. Trained 91 taxi drivers on 
safeguarding and child sexual exploitation issues. 

Junior Life Skills Worked with 8 partners including the Police, RNLI, Fire Service, Dog Trust and 
Tavistock Rotary to present workshops to 549 children year 6 students on safety, 
wellbeing and responsible citizenship.

Refugees Delivered on our pledge to resettle 4 families as part of the Syrian vulnerable 
person resettlement scheme.

Leisure Centres Successful fi rst year for our partners Fusion Lifestyle - 125,000 user sessions 
at Okehampton and Tavistock, plus 750 swim school members. Capital 
improvements started and new changing rooms completed at Meadowlands.

Tamar Trails Usage of the multi-use trails continues to grow with an estimated 20% increase in 
footfall over the past 12 months.



Next Steps 2018-19
During the next 12 months we will 
continue to review how we interact 
with our customers, focusing on 
offering easy to use online solutions 
and keeping our customers informed. 

We will be implementing service standards across 
the majority of our services. When customers 
contact us or request a service, we will inform them 
of how we will respond and /or complete their 
request and when we will complete it, providing 
the customer with a clear understanding of the 
services they should expect to receive. For major 
services we will look to provide on our website, 
how we are doing in meeting these standards 
along with our customers feedback. 

Building on the increasing take-up of our online 
services and the similar increasing interaction 
with our social media channels, we will be rolling 
out web chat as an additional method of contact 
for customers. Similarly as technology continues 
to develop, we will evaluate automation and 
artificial intelligence type solutions to see if they 
can improve our delivery or customer experience. 
We will continue to proactively market our online 
service offerings so that we reduce demand for 
services over the telephone and face to face. We 
will then use this extra staff capacity to provide 
support to those customers with no or limited 
access to digital channels and to manage complex 
enquiries or problems.

Review of key services

Over the next 12 months we will be benchmarking 
our services and performance against others and 
have invited the Local Government Association to 
carry out a ‘Peer Review’. The review is scheduled 
for September and the review team will be made 
up of senior members and officers from other 
leading and comparable councils and they will 
assess our progress in the following areas;

 Review the various options to secure the financial 
sustainability of the Council

 Consider the resource pressures for the Council 
and the implication for the delivery of non-
statutory services and how the council may 
manage these services in the future

 Review the proposed plans for investment and 
commercial delivery 

 Review the extent that the Council has embraced 
organisational change and the use of e-technology

 Review economic growth and housing and how 
the Council might deliver this  

In addition we will be working with key stakeholders 
and current contractors to ensure that front line 
services continue to perform at a high level and can be 
developed in the future. Recycling, waste collection, 
street cleansing and grounds maintenance services 
will all be market tested for quality, environmental 
suitability, cost and performance. 

Partnership working

We will continue to develop our existing partnerships and 
create new ones to improve our support to individuals 
and communities, ensuring that we offer joined up 
services and customers have a clear understanding of 
where they can get guidance and support. Through 
the continued development of our Locality team we 
aim to make real difference on the ground, this could 
be through signposting services or through enabling 
access to grants to support local initiatives.

Our financial future

With the withdrawal of Government funding we 
will need to generate additional income to be able 
to carry on delivering our current range of services.  
Over the course of the year we will be considering 
and implementing proposals to meet this financial 
challenge; these are likely to include developing 
investment opportunities and income generating 
services as well as finding further efficiencies and 
smarter ways of doing things.

If you would like this publication in another format please contact: 
Communications Team on communications@swdevon.gov.uk or 01803 861368



Report to: West Devon Hub Committee 

Date: 24/4/2018  

Title: Devon Wide Housing Assistance Policy 

Portfolio Area: Environmental Health/Customer First  

Wards Affected: All 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee: Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained: 

Y  

Date next steps can be taken: After full Council 
22 May 2018 

Author: David Sexton Role: Senior Environmental Health 
Specialist  

Contact: 01822 813716/dave.sexton@swdevon.gov.uk 

 

 
 

Recommendations:   

That Hub Committee RECOMMENDS to Council that the existing Homes 
Assistance Policy be updated and then adopted in line with the Devon 
Housing Assistance Policy. 

1.  Executive summary  
 
1.1 The Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) for disabled adaptations funding 

has increased and will be paid by the Department of Health to the 
Council as part of the Better Care Fund (BCF). This report provides an 
outline of proposals to utilise the increased funding with the aim of 
ensuring that vulnerable individuals can remain safe and healthy in 
their own home.  It is proposed to move from just providing DFG’s to a 
range of assistance packages that will include more vulnerable 
residence.  
 
Proposed Assistance packages; 

Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) 
Accessible Homes Grant (including house move) 
Healthy Homes grant 
Home Improvement Loan  
ECO flex top up 

Currently the BCF is administered through Devon County and funds 
are allocated to the 8 Devon Council Districts, in line with Government 



allocation formula.  Currently there is an underspend in the total Devon 
allocation, so the districts and County have agreed the proposed policy 
to help ensure a fuller spend over the next two years.   
 
This report is seeking approval to update the existing Home 
improvement policy to the agreed Devon Home Improvement Policy  

 
2.  Background  
 
2.1  In 2015 the Government introduced the Better Care Fund (BCF) in an 

attempt to bring health and social care together in an integrated way. 
The fund is a combination of government funding from the Department 
of Health and the Department for Communities and Local Government 
and includes the grant allocation for disabled facilities grants (DFG). 
The 2017-19 Integration and Better Care fund policy framework 
document lists the conditions that the better care fund must be used to 
address and in particular this includes working together on a jointly 
agreed plan. DFG’s are an income assessed grant, so residents on 
lower incomes tend to get full grants. The grants are used to assist 
vulnerable residents to continue living in their homes, after there has 
been an assessment from an occupational therapist, from Devon 
County social services.   

 
2.2  The development of this Devon Housing Assistance policy is in 

response to this condition. It will allow each council to fully utilise the 
Better Care Fund allocation to meet specific needs across the county, 
that may fall outside of the scope of the statutory Disabled Facilities 
Grant (DFG).  

 
2.3  The Better Care Fund provides more funding to the Devon district 

authorities than is currently required to meet the demand for mandatory 
DFGs, when you add the total spend of each authority.  A wider Devon 
policy is needed to allow the Devon councils to spend the BCF on 
assistance that helps a wider range of households and meets more of 
the BCF objectives. 

 
 Central Government has allocated in 2016-17 to; 
 

West Devon £401,613 for DFG’s where the demand was 
£323,025 

 
 Central Government has allocated in 2017-18 to; 
 

West Devon £436,114 for DFG’s where the demand is nearer 
£456,100 

 
The current Devon districts total allocation is £6,235,724, there is an 
expected rise for 2018-19.  

 



Currently there is a Devon Authorities agreement of a 10% top-slice of 
each authority’s DFG allocation, which forms a centrally-held fund.  
This is used flexibly in a demand led approach to delivery and funding 
of adaptations. 
 
The figures above show that current government formula for fund 
allocation is not accurate.  The updated Devon policy will help to 
harmonise the funding for the increased Devon demand.   

 
2.4  A Devon task and finish group was set up in November 2016. The aim 

of the group was to produce a common policy that could be adopted 
across the whole of Devon by reviewing existing policies and 
considering policies from other areas.  

 
2.5  This policy therefore substantially updates and replaces the Disabled 

Facility Grant part of the previous West Devon and South Hams Private 
Sector Housing Renewal Policy adopted in 2012. At that time the policy 
was adopted on a local basis only (i.e. there was no common Devon-
county level approach) as it operated without the strategic, policy 
framework and funding landscape now in place with integration under 
BCF.  

 
2.6  The final draft version of the new policy can be found in Annex 1 to this 

report. 
 
2.7  The policy has a two-year cycle with an annual review point. 
 
2.8 The policy fits into two council priorities, Housing and Wellbeing 

priorities.    
 
3.  Outcomes/outputs  
 
3.1  The policy aims to provide a consistent approach to the delivery of the 

Better Care Fund across Devon that satisfies the terms of the funding 
agreement.  

 
3.2  The policy will provide the flexibility and discretion for the councils to 

provide appropriate assistance to meet the following objectives: 
 

Objective 1 - Assist disabled residents to remain in their own homes 
through supporting the provision of adaptations (so far as this is 
necessary, appropriate and reasonably practicable) to prevent 
admissions to care and to assist with delayed transfers where possible. 
Objective 2 – Safeguard the health and well-being of vulnerable 
residents by removing unnecessary hazards to health and safety in the 
home to reduce avoidable emergency admissions 
Objective 3 – Provide adaptations that are suitable for the future by 
ensuring the scheme of works is dementia aware. 
Objective 4 – assist vulnerable people to afford to heat their homes 
through appropriate energy efficiency and heating measures. 



3.3 These objectives meet the priorities detailed by the BCF and the 
various Councils in Devon. 

 
3.4 The measure of success will be spending the BCF allocation and 

processing applications within established guidelines.   
 
4.  Options available and consideration of risk  
 
4.1 Council could decide not to adopt the new policy and carry on only 

providing statutory/mandatory DFG’s.  This would be difficult to justify 
as the Government have made extra funds available based on 
assessment of local need.  

  
5.   Proposed Way Forward  
 
5.1  It is proposed to move from just the statutory DFG to a range of 

assistance packages, the proposed new assistance packages are: 
 
  Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) 

Accessible Homes Grant (including house move) 
Home Improvement Loan  
Healthy Homes grant 
ECO flex top up 

 
5.2        The delivery of the disabled facilities grant programme is mandatory 

and a statutory function of the local housing authority. The delivery of 
this function is governed by the Housing Grants, Construction and 
Regeneration Act 1996. Under the new policy this will continue. 
Referrals can only be made from Devon County occupational 
therapists after the resident has had a social care assessment. The 
enhanced offer is not expected to create a significant amount of extra 
referrals but it will give us flexibility around how we deal with the cases 
and is expected help more residents who would normally not get 
through the statutory process (mainly around contributions) as it is a 
means tested grant. It is anticipated that the new programme can be 
delivered through existing recourses. If extra resources are needed the 
DFG allocation can be capitalised into the revenue budget.   

 
5.3  The Accessible Homes Grant enables an enhanced offer in addition to 

the Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant subject to available funding.  
 
5.4  This grant is available in the following circumstances: 

 

• Where a mandatory grant has been approved but the cost of the 
work exceeds £30,000  

• Where there are works that may not be covered by the DFG in 
relation to adapting the home and making it safe.  

• Where the means test identifies that a contribution is required.  

• Where moving house more appropriate than adapting the existing 
property.  



 
5.5 The Healthy Homes grant is a flexible grant to provide urgent/essential 

repairs to the home to ensure the health, safety and welfare of the 
occupier. The grant is only available where a loan is unavailable (see 
below). 

 
5.6 Wessex Resolutions CIC currently administers loans within the 

requirements of this policy and the local policies of each district council 
within Devon. The Home Improvement Loan is a flexible product that 
can be used for the following purposes: 

 

• Home repairs and improvements  

• Adaptation works where grant is not available  

• To cover a client contribution to a grant  

• To cover the cost of the work over the grant maximum. 

• To bring empty homes back into use  

• For landlords to carry out repairs or improvement to rented 
accommodation  

• For energy efficiency improvements 
 
5.7  This grant is to provide top up funding for energy efficiency measures 

where Energy Company Obligation (ECO) Flex funding and the 
HHCRO scheme ("Home Heating Cost Reduction Obligation", also 
known as the "the Affordable Warmth Obligation") have been provided 
by energy providers (via installers) but the available funding does not 
cover the full cost of the work.  

 
5.8  The eligibility for ECO Flex funding itself is subject to a separate 

Statement of Intent issued by each Local Authority setting the local 
criteria. All ECO funding is not provided by the Local Authority and is 
accessed through the national Energy Company Obligation scheme 
and normally through installers 

 
5.9 DFG’s are an established mechanism to help vulnerable residents to 

live independently in their homes.  There are already clear referral 
pathways however once the policy has been approved, the new 
provisions will be communicated to partner agencies along with clear 
information on the website.   

 
6.  Implications  
 
Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  
proposals  
Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 
 

 The council has a statutory duty to provide DFG’s  
 
Article 3 of the Regulatory Reform (Housing 
assistance) (England and Wales) Order 2002 gives a 
local housing authority power to provide financial 



assistance for the purpose of improving living 
conditions in their area. Such assistance may not be 
given unless the local housing authority has adopted 
a policy for the provision of such assistance and they 
have given the public notice of such adoption.  
 
The legislative provisions governing disabled facilities 
grants (DFGs) are contained in the Housing Grants, 
Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 (as 
amended) (HGCRA 1996). 
 
 

Financial 
 

 The new policy will give flexibility and ability to spend 
the better care fund allocation.  There is currently no 
direct capital contribution made into the budget by the 
councils.   
 
There is a risk that the funding from the better care 
fund will stop and thus stopping DFG function.  As the 
policy will be regularly reviewed any changes in BCF 
funding will be mitigated.   
 
 

Risk  There is a risk that with poor performance that 
applications are not processed in the require 
timescale.  Part of the BCF capital can be put into the 
revenue budget.  This means that staff the resource 
can reflect the demand without an increase in the 
revenue budget.  
 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 
 

Equality and 
Diversity 
 

 The grant will become more accessible and benefit 
more households.   
 
Residents from vulnerable groups can sometimes 
have limited housing choices. In particular, families 
with young children, older persons and those with a 
disability can find themselves in poor quality 
accommodation. The policy aims to safeguard the 
health, safety and welfare of the following 
characteristics; Age and Disability. By doing so the 
policy restricts funding and services available and 
there may be some households on low income who 
do not meet the qualification criteria and therefore are 
unable to access the funding despite still being in 
need. The option of a Home Improvement Loan is 
available to such households. This is a necessary 
restriction due to the amount of funding available 



which must be targeted on a priority basis and the 
funding criteria imposed by the BCF.  
 
Having regard to this aim, the proposed policy may 
have a negative impact as it favours those with the 
above characteristic. As detailed above this may 
disadvantage households that are in need but do not 
meet the specified criteria. Poor housing conditions 
can negatively affect the health, safety and well-being 
of all residents, irrespective of age. However, certain 
housing deficiencies can have a more serious and 
harmful impact on individuals of particular ages. For 
example, older persons will suffer more in cold 
homes. The access to assistance within in the policy 
can be complicated and this could be a disadvantage 
if an individual is unable to make contact with the 
relevant person. 
 

Safeguarding  The policy specifically identifies disabled residents as 
a beneficiary of assistance. The policy also aims to 
safeguard disabled residents by making their homes 
safer for them to live in. 
 

Community 
Safety, Crime and 
Disorder 
 

 Is there any potential positive or negative impact on 
crime and disorder reduction? No  
 
 

Health, Safety and 
Wellbeing 

 Improve utilisation of the Better Care fund allocation 
for South hams and West Devon.   
  
The Council would make available a mandatory and 
discretionary grant for disabled adaptations.   
 

Other implications  Political – The proposal will enable an increased 
number of adaptations and number of people that will 
benefit from the service.  
  
Reputation – This proposal demonstrates the 
Council’s commitment to improve the DFG service.  
 
 

 
 
Supporting Information 
 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix one: Devon Wide Housing Assistance Policy for the Better Care 
Fund 2018-19 
 



Background Papers: 
 
SH/WD Private Sector Housing Renewal Policy 2009 (previous policy) 
 
More information on Wessex Home Improvement Loans is available at 
https://www.middevon.gov.uk/residents/housing/private-
sectorhousing/homeowners/loans/  
 
More information on the national ECO Flex scheme is available at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/energy-company-obligation-eco-
help-toheat-scheme-flexible-eligibility 
  
 
 
Approval and clearance of report 
 
 
 
Process checklist Completed 
Portfolio Holder briefed  Yes/No 
SLT Rep briefed Yes/No 
Relevant  Exec Director sign off (draft) Yes/No 
Data protection issues considered Yes/No 
If exempt information, public (part 1) report 
also drafted. (Cabinet/Scrutiny) 

Yes/No 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

DEVON WIDE HOUSING ASSISTANCE POLICY FOR THE BETTER CARE FUND 

2018-19 



CONTENTS 

 

1.0 Introduction  

1.1 Purpose  

1.2 Review  

1.3 Funding  

2.0 Context  

2.1 Housing and Health  

2.2 Better Care Fund  

2.3 Delayed transfers of care 

3.0 Priorities 

4.0 Types of Assistance  

4.1 Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG)  

4.2 Accessible Homes Grant  

4.3 Healthy Homes Grant 4.4 Home Improvement Loans 

  4.5 Top up to Eco-Flex 

5.0 Exceptions to the policy  

6.0 Appeals and Complaints 

 

Appendix One - Eligible works 

Appendix Two – Local Policies 

Appendix Three – Summary   

 

  



DEVON WIDE HOUSING ASSISTANCE POLICY FOR THE BETTER CARE FUND 

2018-19 

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

1.1  Purpose This policy is required under Article 4 of the Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) 

(England and Wales) Order 2002. The Order provides councils with the discretion to develop 

schemes to provide financial assistance to deal with a range of housing issues. This policy 

sets out the areas on which Devon will focus any available resources in order to improve 

housing conditions across the district. With limited resources available it is essential that 

funding is targeted to those areas that contribute to the delivery of the Better Care Fund and 

Health and Wellbeing Board priorities and local district council priorities. 

This policy provides the Devon Councils with the flexibility and discretion to provide 

appropriate assistance to meet the aims and priorities set out in section 3 below. Appendix 2 

allows for each local authority to deliver its own local schemes that may be available over 

and above the Devon wide schemes.  

This policy is owned by the following Councils: Devon County Council East Devon District 

Council Exeter City Council Mid Devon District Council North Devon District Council South 

Hams District Council Teignbridge District Council Torridge District Council West Devon 

District Council 

1.2  The policy will be reviewed on an annual basis. 

1.3  The assistance contained within this policy is only available subject to the availability of 

funding. Where funding is limited priority for spend will be given to the Mandatory Disabled 

Facilities Grant across the County. 

2.0 CONTEXT 

2.1  Housing and Health Housing is a key determinant of health, and by promoting good quality 

housing this policy can contribute to reducing health inequalities for the residents of Devon. 

In 2008, flexibilities were introduced enabling councils to use government grant that has 

been allocated for disabled facilities grants to be used more intelligently to deliver 

adaptations for disabled people outside of the mandatory grant regime.   

Research has shown that there is a direct impact on the health and well-being of residents 

resulting from the homes in which they live; therefore, poor housing can contribute to poor 

health. 

Each year hazards in the home result in unnecessary injuries, episodes of ill-health, and 

harm to mental health and in many cases the occupiers do not link the poor condition of 

their homes with a potential negative impact on their health. The poorest housing stock can 

be found in the private sector, and in some cases residents who own their own home are not 

able to maintain them and as a result hazards can develop.  

An estimated 34,400 excess winter deaths were recorded in England and Wales in 2016/17 

as reported by the Office of National Statistics (ONS) in their document Excess Winter 

Mortality in England and Wales 2016-17. Many of these people die unnecessarily as a result 



of living in cold homes each year. Although the data collected does not identify the number 

of people that die directly as a result of the home environment various studies have found a 

link and these are detailed within the ONS report. In extreme cases the inability to afford to 

heat the home results in cold temperatures that create hypothermic conditions; however, 

for many individuals (particularly older persons) cold homes may result in trips, slips and 

falls, or injuries/health impacts resulting from cardiovascular, circulatory diseases and 

respiratory disease. 

2.2 Better Care Fund In 2015 the government introduced the Better Care fund in an attempt to 

bring health and social care together in an integrated way. The fund is a combination of 

government funding from the Department of Health and the Department for Communities 

and Local Government and includes the grant allocation for disabled facilities grants (DFG). 

The 2017-19 Integration and Better Care fund policy framework document lists the 

conditions that the better care fund must be used to address. These are:  

Condition 1: Plans to be jointly agreed – The plan to use the BCF allocation must be 

jointly agreed and signed off by the Health and Wellbeing Board, and constituent 

councils and clinical commissioning groups. The local housing authority must also be 

involved due to the inclusion of the DFG allocation, which forms part of the fund.  

Condition 2: NHS contribution to social care is maintained in line with inflation. -  

The funding must be used to contribute to the maintenance of adult social care 

services in each local authority, which also has a health benefit. However, beyond 

this broad condition, the Department of Health wants to provide flexibility for local 

areas to determine how this investment in adult social care services is best used.  

Condition 3: Agreement to invest in NHS commissioned out of hospital services, 

which may include 7 day services and adult social care - This should be achieved by 

funding NHS commissioned out-of-hospital services, which may also include 7-day 

services and adult social care, as part of the agreed BCF plan.  

Condition 4: Managing Transfers of Care - Plans should set out how local partners 

will work together to fund and implement transfers of care effectively. More detail 

can be found in the 2017-19 Integration and Better Care Fund Policy Framework. 

Based on these broad conditions, Devon county Council and the District Councils 

have identified an opportunity to provide additional grant and loan products to 

meet these conditions and deliver against the Health and Wellbeing Board priorities. 

2.3  Delayed transfers of care. Delayed transfers of care, sometimes referred to as ‘bed-

blocking’, occur when a patient is ready to depart from care and is still occupying a bed. 

According to NHS England, a patient is ready to depart when: a. A clinical decision has been 

made that the patient is ready for transfer AND b. A multi-disciplinary team decision has 

been made that the patient is ready for transfer, AND c. The patient is safe to 

discharge/transfer. In 2016/17 there were 2.3 million total delayed days in England with 1.3 

million of these attributable to the NHS, averaging around 6,200 delayed transfers of care 

per day with around 3,600 of these attributable to the NHS. Delayed transfers of care in the 

NHS Briefing paper number 7415, 20 June 2017. The longer a patient stays in hospital the 

more detrimental this can be in terms of patient morale, mobility, and an increase in the risk 

of hospital-acquired infections. Older patients are particularly susceptible to negative effects 

around mobility with studies suggesting that a wait of more than two days negates the 



benefit of intermediate care, and a wait of seven days or more is associated with a 10% 

decline in muscle strength. Delayed transfers of care are also costly for hospital trusts as 

insufficient beds can mean elective procedures need to be cancelled, resulting in the 

hospital trust losing these as a source of income.  

A survey in 2015 by the Guardian found that at least 10% of beds were occupied by patients 

who were ready to be discharged and the NHS providers’ audited accounts for 2016/17 

estimated that delayed transfers of care cost £173 million. Much of the recent debate 

around delayed transfers of care attributes rising numbers to pressures in social care. The 

number of delayed days attributable to social care had been in decline until August 2013, 

after which the figure began to rise sharply. When looking at the specific reasons for delayed 

transfers of care, there are notable increases in non-health care reasons as indicated below: 

 

 

3.0 PRIORITIES 

In Devon, the Better Care Fund priorities aim to achieve the following outcomes:  

Reduced admissions to residential and nursing care homes  

Reduce delayed transfers of care  

Reduce avoidable emergency admissions  

Increase dementia diagnosis rates  

 



To meet these priorities this policy aims to focus on the following areas: 

Objective 1 - Assist disabled residents to remain in their own homes through supporting the 

provision of adaptations (so far as this is necessary, appropriate and reasonably practicable) 

to prevent admissions to care and to assist with delayed transfers where possible. 

Objective 2 – Safeguard the health and well-being of vulnerable residents by removing 

unnecessary hazards to health and safety in the home to reduce avoidable emergency 

admissions 

Objective 3 – Provide adaptations that are suitable for the future by ensuring the scheme of 

works is dementia aware. 

Objective 4 – Assist vulnerable people to afford to heat their homes through appropriate 

energy efficiency and heating measures. 

4.0  TYPES OF ASSISTANCE  

4.1  Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG)  

The delivery of the disabled facilities grant programme is mandatory and a statutory 

function of the local housing authority. The delivery of this function is governed by the 

Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996.  

Eligibility Any disabled householder seeking financial assistance with the cost of adaptations 

to their home must be assessed by an occupational therapist (OT) working on behalf of, or 

approved by Devon County Council. For the purposes of the DFG a person is considered 

disabled if they meet any of the following criteria:  

their sight, hearing or speech is substantially impaired,  

they have  a mental disorder or impairment of any kind,  

they are physically substantially disabled by illness, injury, impairment present since 

birth, or otherwise. A person aged eighteen or over shall be considered disabled if:  

they are registered under section 29(1) of the National Assistance Act 1948 (disabled 

persons’ welfare),  

they are a person for whose welfare arrangements have been made under that 

provision or, in the opinion of the social services authority, might be made under it.  

A person under the age of eighteen shall be considered disabled if: 

they are on a register of disabled children maintained under paragraph 2 of 

Schedule 2 to the Children Act 1989,  

they are in the opinion of the social services authority a disabled child as defined for 

the purposes of Part III of the Children Act 1989 (local authority support for children 

and their families).  

All owner-occupiers, tenants, licensees or occupiers who meet the above criteria are eligible 

to apply for a DFG.  

 



Grant Conditions  

1.  All grants other than those for children are subject to a test of financial resources, 

which is prescribed by The Housing Renewal Grants Regulations 1996. 

2.  The grant maximum is £30,000  

3.  The disabled person must intend to occupy the property as their only or main 

residence for a period of five years after the works are complete (or such shorter 

period as the person’s health or other relevant circumstances permit).  

4.  In order to make an application the client must supply the following:  

A completed and signed application form  

Evidence of financial situation  

Evidence of ownership of the property or the right to reside at the property  

Permission for the works to be carried out  

A detailed schedule of works and plans for complex works that must be 

agreed by the council  

Any planning or building regulation approvals  

2 tenders for the works unless using an agreed framework.  

5.  Only the works agreed by the council will be covered by the grant.  

6.  If the grant is approved there are 12 months to complete the works  

7.  The works must be completed by the contractor stated on the approval document  

8.  No grant works should proceed until the grant application has been processed and 

all relevant planning, Building Regulation or landlord approval has been obtained.  

9.  Owner occupiers may have a local land charge placed on their property on 

completion of the grant. If the property is sold, assigned or transferred within 10 

years of the grant being completed then the grant may have to be repaid. The 

council will have regard to The Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 

1996: Disabled Facilities Grants (Conditions relating to approval or payment of 

Grant) General Consent 2008 when deciding whether to demand repayment. The 

charge only applies where the grant is more than £5,000. Where the grant is more 

than £5000 only the amount over the first £5,000 is added as a charge. There is a 

charge limit of £10,000.  

10.  If the applicant has a contribution to pay they must ensure they have the money to 

cover their share of the costs before the work begins on site. 

11. Unforeseen and additional costs will only be paid for where they are necessary to 

complete the adaptation and must be agreed by the council before they are 

undertaken.  

12. Any increase in the grant may have an impact on the charge placed against the 

property.  



13. Where the cost of the work exceeds the mandatory grant limit of £30,000 the 

applicant may be eligible to apply for the Accessible Homes Grant subject to 

available funds.  

14.  Applicants who are successful in their application for assistance will be required to 

maintain the adaptation.  

15.  The contract for the works is the responsibility of the applicant.  

16.  The grant will normally be paid direct to contractors in all but the most exceptional 

cases.  

17.  The council will only offer grant for those works that are considered mandatory to 

meet the needs of the disabled person.  

18.  No grant will be paid until a satisfactory invoice has been received and the works 

have been carried out to the satisfaction of the client and Council. 

4.2  Accessible Homes Grant   

The Accessible Homes Grant enables an enhanced offer in addition to the Mandatory 

Disabled Facilities Grant subject to available funding. This grant is available in the following 

circumstances:  

Where a mandatory grant has been approved but the cost of the work exceeds 

£30,000  

Where there are works that may not be covered by the DFG in relation to adapting 

the home and making it safe.  

Where the means test identifies that a contribution is required.  

Where moving house more appropriate than adapting the existing property.  

Eligibility   

To be eligible for this grant the applicant must meet the following:  

The applicant must have applied for and be eligible for the DFG first before 

the discretionary grant can be considered.  

All applicants are subject to a means test including the parents and/or 

guardians of a disabled child. Adult clients will have been means tested as 

part of the formal DFG application. In the case of a child’s application the 

means test will be applied to the parents or guardians of the disabled child 

before an application for a discretionary grant can be made.  

As an alternative to the adaptation of an applicant’s home, consideration 

will be given to the option of re-housing to more appropriate or adapted 

accommodation.  

An applicant will only be eligible to apply for additional grant to cover any 

identified contribution where the amount the client has to pay represents at 

least a third or more of the applicant’s savings.  

 



Conditions  

1.  The grant maximum is £20,000. Anything over £20,000 will not attract any further 

public grant.  

2.  Where additional funding is required to cover either a contribution or the cost of 

works over £50,000 (£30,000 from the Disabled Facilities Grant and £20,000 from 

the Accessible Homes Grant), then a Home Improvement Loan application can be 

made.  

3.  The DFG paperwork will be used to assist the applicant in making an application for 

this grant.  

4.  Only the works agreed by the council will be covered by the grant  

5.  If the grant is approved there are 12 months to complete the works  

6.  The works must be completed by the contractor stated on the approval document  

7.  No grant works should proceed until the grant application has been processed and 

all relevant planning, Building Regulation or landlord approval has been obtained.  

8.  Owner occupiers will have a local land charge placed on their property on 

completion of the grant. If the property is sold, assigned or transferred within 10 

years of the grant being completed then the grant may have to be repaid.  

9.  Unforeseen and additional costs will only be paid for where they are necessary to 

complete the adaptation and must be agreed by the council before they are 

undertaken.  

10. Any increase in the grant may have an impact on the charge placed against the 

property.  

11. Applicants who are successful in their application for assistance will be required to 

maintain the adaptation.  

12. The contract for the works is the responsibility of the applicant.  

13. The grant will normally be paid direct to contractors in all but the most exceptional 

cases.  

14. The council will only offer grant for those works that are considered mandatory to 

meet the needs of the disabled person.  

15. No grant will be paid until a satisfactory invoice has been received and the works 

have been carried out to the satisfaction of the client and Council.  

16. Housing association properties - where the mandatory DFG does not fully cover the 

cost of the adaptation then the client and/or council may approach the housing 

association for a contribution towards the cost. 

 

 

 



Accessible Homes Grant - Moving application  

This grant may be available to assist a disabled person to move to more suitable 

accommodation subject to available funding. 

Eligibility 

An applicant will be eligible for this grant where:  

The applicant meets the eligibility criteria for a DFG.  

Where the Occupational Therapist and/or the Council consider re-housing to 

be more appropriate than adapting the existing accommodation.  

To be eligible for this grant the total cost incurred in the eligible ‘moving on’ 

expenses and any estimated eligible adaptation costs at the ‘new’ property 

should not be greater than the cost of adapting the applicant’s current 

home.  

The ‘new’ property shall in the opinion of the Council provide a long term, 

sustainable home for the person for whose benefit the works are required.  

If the property is within a neighbouring authority covered by this policy then 

the new authority will need to ensure the new property is suitable. This 

should also be agreed with the occupational therapist. The applicant must 

ensure that the relevant council’s officers and Occupational Therapist have 

been consulted. In determining the ‘reasonable expenses’ regard shall be 

had to the following criteria:  

The cost of the eligible works at the applicants existing property are not 

deemed reasonable, or;  

The eligible works at the applicants existing home are not technically 

feasible, or;  

The adaptation of the applicants existing property does not provide a 

sustainable, long term solution for their housing needs. 

Eligible Expenses Owner Occupier  

The expenses that can attract grant under this section may include the cost of:  

Any arrangement fee charged by a lender to cover the formation of a 

mortgage.  

Conveyancing fees.  

Land Registry Fee  

Local Authority Searches  

Stamp Duty  

Valuation, Homebuyers or Full Structural Survey  

Professional or other removal costs  



Estate Agent Commission. The maximum grant payable for eligible expenses 

under this heading for an owner occupier is £10,000. 

Tenant For a tenant the expenses that can attract grant under this section may 

include the cost of:  

Letting agent fees  

Rent deposit   

Professional or other removal fees The maximum grant payable for eligible 

expenses under this heading for a tenant is £5000.  

Conditions  

1.  Grant assistance is only payable to an owner occupier upon the successful 

completion of the purchase of the ‘new’ property and the disabled person then 

occupying that property as their only and main residence.  

2.  When moving to rented accommodation the applicant must obtain permission from 

the landlord for any adaptations to be carried out before the grant will be paid.  

3.  To qualify for this grant the applicant must have been resident in the property for at 

least 2 years prior to making an application to move.  

4.  The applicant must agree to live in the property as their only or main residence for a 

period of 5 years (or such shorter period as the person’s health or other relevant 

circumstances permit).  

5.  For owner occupiers a local land charge will be placed against the property for a 

period of 5 years. 

 

4.3  Healthy Homes Grant  

The Healthy Homes grant is a flexible grant to provide urgent/essential repairs to the home 

to ensure the health, safety and welfare of the occupier.  

Eligibility  

An applicant must apply for a loan first including a Home Improvement Loan and will 

only be eligible to apply for this grant if a loan is refused.  

Where the client is not eligible for a loan then they may apply for this grant.  

To qualify for this grant the applicant must be over 60 years of age and in receipt of 

one of the following benefits: Housing benefit, Disability Living Allowance, Personal 

Independent Payment with the daily living component, Allowance, Guarantee 

Pension Credit, Income support o Council tax benefit (not the single person 

discount) 

Universal Credit – universal credit replaces the following means tested benefits – 

Housing Benefit, income related ESA, Income based JSA, Child tax credit, working tax 

credit and income support.  



Conditions  

1.  The maximum grant available is £5000 over a rolling two year period.  

2.  The grant is only available for owner occupiers and will be placed as a local 

land charge for 5 years. 

4.4  Home Improvement Loans  

Wessex Resolutions Community Interest Company (WRCIC) is a not-for-profit company 

contracted to deliver loans to residents in the Devon area.  

WRCIC administer loans within the requirements of this policy and the local policies of each 

district council within Devon. The Home Improvement Loan is a flexible product that can be 

used for the following purposes:  

Home repairs and improvements  

Adaptation works where grant is not available  

To cover a client contribution to a grant  

To cover the cost of the work over the DFG or Accessible Homes grant maximum.  

To bring empty homes back into use  

For landlords to carry out repairs or improvement to rented accommodation  

For energy efficiency improvements 

 

Eligibility  

This will vary and is based on the individual circumstances of each client. Loan advisors will 

carry out an assessment and provide independent advice on ethical and responsible lending 

the most appropriate product to suit their needs. 

Conditions  

Conditions may vary depending on the loan product selected and the individual 

circumstances of each applicant. 

Typical 4.2% APR. Loans are subject to status. Wessex Resolutions CIC may insist on loans 

being protected at the Land Registry by a Title Restriction. Missing payments could affect 

your credit rating and ability to obtain credit in the future. 

  



 

4.5  Top up to Eco-Flex  

This grant is to provide top up funding for energy efficiency measures where Eco-Flex 

funding and ECO top ups (HHCRO) have been provided by energy providers but the available 

funding does not cover the full cost of the work.  

Eligibility  

Applicants must have been identified through each Council’s Statement of Intent which can 

be found on the council’s website.  

To qualify for the top up a survey must be carried out by the energy provider, a local 

installer, or an agent and qualifying works identified. Provisions will be in place to ensure 

value for money.   

For owner occupiers and private landlords a maximum of up to £1,000 is available.  

If more than £1,000 is needed then the client should apply for a Wessex loan subject to 

availability and eligibility (see 4.4) 

Conditions  

1.  The applicant must agree to live in the property as their only or main residence for a 

period of 5 years (or such shorter period as the person’s health or other relevant 

circumstances permit).  

2.  A local land charge will be placed on their property on completion of the grant. If the 

property is sold, assigned or transferred or the tenant vacates within 5 years of the 

grant being completed then the grant may have to be repaid.  

3.  Any increase in the grant may have an impact on the charge placed against the 

property.  

4.  The contract for the works is the responsibility of the applicant.  

5.  The grant will normally be paid direct to contractors in all but the most exceptional 

cases.  

6.  No grant will be paid until a satisfactory invoice has been received and the works 

have been carried out to the satisfaction of the client and Council.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



5.0  EXCEPTIONS TO THE POLICY  

The Councils accept that applications may be received for adaptations not covered by the 

circumstances listed above which will need to be formally determined. Any such application 

will be referred through the appropriate process of the council managing the application.  

6.0  APPEALS AND COMPLAINTS 

Where the applicant has a complaint about the manner in which a council is applying this 

policy, then they should follow that Councils formal complaints process.  

Where there is a complaint about the content of this policy this should be made to Devon 

County Council so that it can be considered on a Devon wide basis. 

Where the complaint is in respect of works, the complaint should be made to the contractor 

in the first instance, if this does not resolve the problem then the appropriate council should 

be contacted for advice.  

Where an applicant wishes to appeal against a decision of the Council in respect of any of 

the grants contained in this policy this should be made to the appropriate Council. Where 

agreement cannot be reached then the appeal should be escalated to the Devon wide group 

of Councils for a decision. Consensus between all the participating Councils will need to be 

reached as any decision may result in an amendment to the policy. 

  



APPENDIX ONE – ELIGIBLE WORKS 

Disabled Facilities Grant and Accessible Homes Grant 

An assessment by an agreed Occupational Therapist must be carried out that recommends the type 

of adaptation required. Minor works are assessed by the Occupational Therapist and may be dealt 

with outside of the grant process. 

Facilitating access  

Facilitating access by the disabled occupant 

to and from the dwelling  

to a room used or usable as the principle family room  

to a room used for or usable for sleeping  

to a room in which there is a lavatory  

to a room in which there is a bath or shower  

to a room with a wash hand basin 

Such works may include:  

Ramping and/or handrails to the main external door. This could instead be a rear door in the 

case of a rear access. Only one access point will be allowed for each dwelling. External stair 

lifts will be considered if reasonably practicable and they are not prone to vandalism. 

Widening the main entrance door and the doorways to the bedroom, bathroom and living 

room. Automatic door opening to main entrance doors will only be allowed for persons who 

are otherwise unable to open the door. Door entry systems will be considered where the 

person has severe mobility problems. 

Alterations to facilitate wheelchair access to the bedroom, bathroom and living room.  

Access to other rooms may be considered where the disabled person is also a carer. 

Other adaptations that are necessary to facilitate access to any of the relevant rooms by the 

disabled person, for example, stair lifts or vertical lifts in some cases. Where a stair lift 

breaks down and it is 5-10 years old, a manufacturers report is needed before it can be 

replaced. If it is over 10 years, a report may not be required. 

Provision of hard standings (3.6 m x 4.8 m max unless exceptional circumstances) and 

associated crossover for vehicle access where the disabled person is in a wheelchair or has 

difficulty walking to the house. This will only be given where existing on-street parking is 

considered unsatisfactory and a marked disabled parking bay is not possible or where it 

affords a more economical solution than providing additional paths/ramping from the 

roadside. Provision of off-street parking on its own is not eligible. 

Please note: Being a holder of a blue badge is not an eligibility criterion for this item. 

Washing facilities Facilitating the use of washing facilities by the disabled occupant  



Adaptation of the facilities in the bathroom and toilet, including the provision of flush floor 

showers, lever taps, specialist WCs, Clos-o-mat or Geberit etc. The adaptation or provision of 

more than one bathroom to a house e.g. additional ground floor wc, will only be considered 

if evidenced by functional need. 

Kitchen Facilities Facilitating the preparation and cooking of food   

Where someone other than the disabled person does and will continue to do the cooking 

and preparation of meals, normally it will not be necessary to carry out full adaptations. 

However, it may be possible to carry out minor adaptations to allow the disabled person to 

prepare light meals or hot drinks, typically this may include a low-level worktop with power 

points for a kettle/microwave. 

Full adaptations can be considered where the disabled person is the only or main user of the 

kitchen. The following adaptations can be considered:  

a. Kitchen sink, including alteration to its height or position or the type of taps fitted to it. 

Powered, adjustable-height sinks will not generally be allowed, as the provision of a second 

sink is a more economic solution.  

b. Cooker point and oven-housing unit ensuring its height and position is in a safe location 

and the provision of worktops on either side.  

c. Work surfaces located beside the sink and on each side of the cooker having a total length 

of approximately 1.5m, all at a suitable height for the disabled person.  

d. Food storage in an accessible position, usually space for a refrigerator with power supply.  

e. Wheelchair access, if necessary, including wider doors, rearrangement of facilities etc.  

f. Alterations to the kitchen door, light switches and power points, but only if it is necessary.  

g. Extensions or enlargement to kitchens can only be agreed where they are absolutely 

necessary in order to provide turning space for a wheelchair and if suitable space cannot be 

achieved by rearrangement of the existing facilities.  

h. The provision of cupboard and storage units on an "essential" basis. (2x1m base units and 

baskets or equivalent).  

i. Mechanical ventilation where kitchen schemes require Building Regulation approval.  

Other works that may be considered for grant assistance 

Electrical work  

Alterations to the height and/or position of light switches and power points to make them 

accessible to the disabled person.  

Upgrading of electrical installation where the current installation is considered unsafe. 

Heating  

Heating the rooms that are in everyday use by the disabled person where a medical need 

can be demonstrated. Changes to the type of heating system will only be allowed if 

evidenced by medical need (e.g. change from solid fuel to gas where applicant can no longer 

carry fuel) and the applicant is not eligible for other types of grant such as Eco Flex. 



Upgrading/replacing of boilers/radiators where the property has been extended as part of 

the adaptation.  

Guarding  

Provision of laminate glass or specialist lighting or guards to fires and around radiators 

where disabled children with violent behavioural problems may harm themselves.  

Restrictors or works to windows for the safety of the disabled person. 

Alarms  

Provision of enhanced fire alarm systems for those with hearing difficulties. 

Structural alterations  

Carrying out structural alterations where necessary to provide fixings for disabled 

equipment provided by Social Services e.g. fixing for tracking /overhead hoists. 

Storage or space for essential medical equipment as part of the adaptation works but not as a stand-

alone item. 

Where an adaptation is required to a listed building and additional works are required to comply 

with requirements. 

Where an adaptation cannot be carried out due to disrepair issues those repairs, within reason, may 

be carried out. Such works may include replacement of rotted flooring or strengthening of the floor 

as part of a flush floor shower installation, electrical repairs to enable works to be carried out safely, 

and dealing with low water pressure. More substantial repairs that are not directly affecting the 

adaptation will need to be referred to a home improvement loan or healthy homes grant. 

Additional bathrooms or bedrooms may be allowed where they are specifically for the disabled 

person and it can be demonstrated that adaptation of other rooms or space or access to those 

rooms in the property is unsuitable. Extensions will only be allowed following a detailed cost/benefit 

analysis of alternative options. 

Requests are sometimes received to provide separate bedrooms where disabled children with 

behavioural difficulties share a room with other siblings and disturb their sleep. This will only be 

considered where it can be demonstrated the child is prone to violent outbursts and there is risk of 

physical harm to the child or to the other siblings. Families will first be expected to re-arrange the 

sleeping arrangements in their home to try to eliminate the need for extra bedrooms. If there is 

more than one reception room the family will be expected to use the extra room(s) for sleeping 

purposes. 

Garden and external access  

In cases of small terraced properties with narrow passageways or very difficult access, effective 

adaptation can only proceed where it can be reasonably and practicably carried out without having a 

detrimental impact on neighbouring properties. 

Access to the garden may be given to improve an existing access to make it safe for the disabled 

occupant to use. It does not include extending an existing access e.g. creating a side access so a 

person can also go around the side of a house. Generally, the most modest solution for providing 

access to both the house and the garden will be considered and this can mean that one access may 



be sufficient to access both the house and the garden. Where homes have communal gardens, e.g., 

blocks of flats served by a single access, grants will not normally be provided for an individual access 

to the garden unless it can be demonstrated that because of the disabled persons condition the 

travel distance to the garden would be excessive and unreasonable. 

The grant will only be for providing immediate access to the garden and does not include 

landscaping gardens to make them more suitable for the disabled person to access. However, to 

assist a disabled person to live independently, an allowance of 4m² of pathway, (which may include a 

turning circle for a wheelchair user), will be considered to assist access to any specific areas enjoyed 

by the disabled person.  Provision of fencing or guarding for the safety of the disabled person when 

in the garden. 

Healthy Homes grant  

An assessment of the property may be necessary to determine the scope of the work and does not 

cover the full renovation of a property. It is intended that the grant is sufficient to make safe a 

defect that is considered to pose a risk to the health, safety or welfare of the occupier.  

This could include but is not limited to the following: 

Electrical safety- where the condition of the electrical wiring could lead to imminent risk of 

electrocution or fire or accidents as a result of inadequate lighting. 

Falls – where the condition of the stairs or floors are in such a state as to provide an 

imminent risk of a fall in the home. 

Cold – where the heating is inadequate or lacking, and the condition of the doors and 

windows are contributing to the home being cold in the winter and there is a risk of falls or 

other ill effect from cold temperatures. 

Dampness – damp conditions so significant that a roof is failing and water is visibly entering 

the property. Rising damp, condensation or minor leaks may not be covered by this grant. 

Structural collapse- where a structural part of the building is in such a state as to constitute 

an imminent risk. 

Amenities – the lack of a functioning basic amenity such as a toilet, bath, wash hand basin or 

kitchen sink. 

Hot water – where there is no hot water available for the occupier due to a fault with a 

boiler or hot water tank. 

This list is not exhaustive and each case will be assessed based on its individual circumstances. 

Home Improvement Loan The loan will cover those works covered by this policy and any other works 

specified by each individual Council involved in the Home Improvement Loan scheme. 

 

 

 

 

 



ECO Flex Top up  

Works will generally include:  

Mains gas boiler replacement,  

Loft insulation,  

Cavity wall insulation,  

Non-gas boiler replacements,  

Replacement storage heaters,  

Internal or external wall insulation,  

Room in roof insulation,  

Flat roof insulation 



APPENDIX TWO – LOCAL POLICIES  

The following councils have their own additional policy that can be viewed on their websites.  

East Devon District Council  

Exeter City Council  

North Devon District Council  

South Hams District Council  

Teignbridge District Council  

Torridge District Council  

West Devon District Council 

  



APPENDIX THREE – SUMMARY  

Mandatory DFG  

Disabled adaptations as described by the Housing Grants Construction and Regeneration Act 1996.  

£30,000 Meets disability criteria Assessed by an OT Subject to means test 

Must remain in the property as only or main residence for 5 years Local land charge for 10 years for 

owner occupiers in some circumstances 

Accessible Homes Grant  

Cover the costs of adaptations over the mandatory DFG limit Cover some contributions identified 

under mandatory DFG Cover some works not covered by the DFG 

£20,000 Meets disability criteria Assessed by an OT Subject to means test Contribution constitutes 

more than a 1/3 of available savings 

Must remain in the property as only or main residence for 5 years Local land charge for 10 years for 

owner occupiers 

Accessible Homes Grant – Moving  

Cover some of the costs associated with moving to a more suitable property 

Owner occupier upto £10,000 

Tenant upto £5000 

Suitable property has been identified. Cost of moving with any adaptation to the new home is less 

than adapting existing home.  Been resident in existing property for 2 years prior to making the 

application 

Must remain in the property as only or main residence for 5 years Local land charge for 5 years for 

owner occupiers 

Healthy Homes Grant  

Works to make safe a defect that is considered to pose a risk to the health, safety or welfare of the 

occupier. 

Up to £5000 over a 2 year rolling period 

Loan has been refused In receipt of a qualifying benefit Owner occupier 

Must apply for a loan first Local land charge for 5 years 

Home Improvement Loan 

Cover works identified in the other grants  

As determined by each Council policy 

Based on affordability 

Based on local criteria Based on local criteria 

 



EcoFlex Top up  

Energy efficiency works upto £1000 Qualify for ECO funding meet the council’s statement of intent 

criteria Owner occupier or private landlord 

Must remain in the property as only or main residence for 5 years Local land charge for 5 years 



 

 

Report to: Hub Committee 

Date: 24 April 2018 

Title: Development Management Pre-Application 

Advice 

Portfolio Area: Customer First – Cllr C Mott 

Wards Affected: All 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee: Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 

clearance obtained: 

Y 

Date next steps can be taken: After call in 2 May 2018 

Author: Patrick Whymer Role: Community of Practice 
Lead – Development 
Management  

Contact: patrick.whymer@swdevon.gov.uk 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION  

That the Hub Committee approve the proposed pre-application 

process for consultation with users of the service. 
 

 

1.  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  
 

1.1 Following the Planning Peer review, it was agreed that a review of 

the planning pre-application process be undertaken, including the 
planning duty service. 

 
1.2 The key elements of the existing pre-application process are robust 

and remain valid.  There are two main areas of the process that it is 

recommended are changed; the interaction with Council Members 
and Town and Parish Councils, and the publication of both pre-

application submissions and the Councils response. 
 

1.3 Proposed changes in respect of the interaction during the pre-
application process with Council Members and Town and Parish 
Councils together with changes to the publication of Pre-application 

submissions and responses are provided at Appendix 1. 
 

 



 

 

2.  BACKGROUND  
 

2.1 West Devon Borough Council is committed to supporting effective 
pre- application engagement with developers, applicants and local 

communities. However, it should be noted from the outset that the 
Council’s pre application service is for the provision of advice and is 
not an approval service. It should aim to give developers/applicants 

very clear advice about whether Council officers may recommend 
approval for a scheme, or how it may need to change to be supported 

by a recommendation.  
 
2.2 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) advises Local 

Planning Authorities (LPAs) to approach decision-taking in a positive 
way to foster the delivery of sustainable development. LPA’s need to 

look for solutions rather than problems and where possible, seek to 
approve applications for sustainable development. In this respect, 
LPA’s should work proactively with developers/applicants to secure 

developments that improve economic, social and environmental 
conditions of an area.  

 
2.3 The NPPF clearly encourages early engagement and front loading as 

this has significant potential to improve the efficiency and 
effectiveness of the planning system for all parties. Good quality pre-
application discussions enable better coordination between public 

and private resources and improved outcomes for the community. 
LPA’s have a key role to play in encouraging other parties to take 

maximum advantage of the pre-application stage and should 
encourage any developers/applicants to engage with the local 
community before submitting their formal planning applications.   

 
2.4 The more issues that can be resolved at pre-application stage, the 

greater the benefits. For the planning system to be effective and 
positive, statutory planning consultees must take the same early, 
pro-active approach, and provide advice in a timely manner. This 

assists in issuing timely decisions, helping to ensure that there are 
no unnecessary delays and costs.   

 
2.5 We receive a reasonable number of pre-application submissions with 

87 being received in 2017.  However only 71 submissions completed 

the process in 2017 and it is clear that insufficient resources have 
been directed to pre-applications to enable the efficient processing of 

them within the time frame that is set out which is 6 weeks for non-
majors and between 2-6 months for major schemes. 

 

2.6 The existing pre-application process sets out that the Council will 
expect developers and applicants to be open and positive in their 

engagement with communities and follow the Council’s pre-
application process. Communities have a key role in identifying 
issues and opportunities around community facilities. The pre- 

application process and interaction between developers and 
applicants, local communities and the LPA will allow those 

communities to express their thoughts and opinions on scale, nature 



 

 

and form of development in a way that is proportionate to the scale 
of the development proposal. 

 
2.7 There appears only to be a small number of pre-application 

submissions during which the local community are involved.  The 
Council has no power to compel developers or prospective applicants 
to engage with the community, other than for a relatively large scale 

energy project.  However the pre-application process should continue 
to encourage community involvement. 

 
2.8 The planning duty service sits alongside the pre-application process.  

The duty planning service only provides general planning advice and 

not pre-application advice.  There are also specific appointments for 
Listed Building and Heritage questions.  It is recognised that this does 

provide a service to customers who have general planning questions. 
 
 

3.  PROPOSED ACTIONS 
 

3.1 As Members are aware, the Planning Duty service has been revised 
and those revisions approved as part of the Budget Setting process 

took effect from 1 April 2018.  Members of the public (including 
planning agents/architects) can book either a face to face 
appointment at Kilworthy Park or have a telephone call from a 

member of the Development Management Team who cover the 
appointments on a rota.  Each appointment is for 30 minutes and will 

be charged at £30 per appointment.  The previous duty service was 
free and was for 15 minute appointments. 

 

3.2 The Council has also approved through the budget setting process, 
fees for pre-applications from April 2018.  A copy of the approved 

fees are attached at Appendix 2.  
 
3.3 The target timescales for dealing with pre-application submissions 

have been re-visited.  It is acknowledged that the response times to 
pre-application enquiries have not been in accordance with the target 

timescales.  The additional resources to Development Management 
achieved through the increase in planning fees, will provide additional 
capacity that will facilitate improvements in the speed of response to 

such enquiries.  It is proposed that the target timescales for dealing 
with pre-applications will be as follows: 

 
 Householder/Advertisements: Meeting to take place within 4 

weeks from the date of receipt of pre-app with a full response within 

6 weeks from date of receipt. 
 

Small Minor:  Scoping meeting to take place within 4 weeks from 
the date of receipt with notes to be circulated for agreement with 7 
days of the meeting. 

  
 Full pre-app meeting within 4 weeks from date of receipt or within 2 

weeks if it follows a scoping meeting.  Full response within a 
timescale agreed at the pre-app meeting.  If no further information 



 

 

is required or no comments from other consultees needed the 
response should be within 3 weeks of the meeting. 

 
 Minor:  Scoping meeting to take place within 4 weeks from the date 

of receipt with notes to be circulated for agreement within 7 days of 
the meeting. 

  

 Full pre-app meeting within 4 weeks from date of receipt or within 2 
weeks if it follows a scoping meeting.  Full response within a 

timescale agreed at the pre-app meeting.  If no further information 
is required or no comments from other consultees needed the 
response should be within 3 weeks of the meeting. 

 
 Small Scale Major:  Scoping meeting to take place within 4 weeks 

from the date of receipt with notes to be circulated for agreement 
within 7 days of the meeting. 

  

 Full pre-app meeting within 5 weeks from date of receipt or within 3 
weeks if it follows a scoping meeting.  Full response within a 

timescale agreed at the pre-app scoping meeting or at the first full 
pre-app meeting.   

 
 Large Scale Major:  Scoping meeting to take place within 4 weeks 

from the date of receipt with notes circulated for agreement within 7 

days of the meeting.  The timescale for the rest of the pre-app will 
be set out in an agreed PPA. 

 
3.4 A pre-application submission should not be dealt with in the same 

way as a planning application and is not a vehicle for public 

consultation and the consideration by the Council of representations 
from the public or other non-technical consultees.   

 
3.5 The Council will continue to encourage discussion between 

developers and land/property owners who submit pre-applications 

and the community, including Town and Parish Councils.  There will 
not be formal consultation with the community by the Council unless 

a development forum takes place, 
 
3.6 It is proposed that Ward Members will continue to receive a weekly 

list of new pre-application enquiries that have been received.  In 
addition, it is proposed that Ward Members will be advised when pre-

application meetings have been arranged to enable them to attend 
the meetings if they so wish.  Further details are set out in Appendix 
1.  

 
3.7 It is also proposed that if an application is subsequently submitted 

following any pre-application advice being given, once the new 
application is registered, the pre-application submission and the 
response from the Council will be published on the Council Website 

with the application documents. 
 

 
 



 

 

4.  CONSIDERATION OF RISK 
 

4.1 The front loading of the planning application process with early 
engagement is set out in the NPPF as having the significant potential 

to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the planning 
application system.  The risk therefore in not engaging at a pre-
application stage is reducing the efficiency and effectiveness of 

Development Management.   
 

4.2 The changes proposed will address a potential perception that the 
pre-application process is not transparent, by publicising the pre 
application details and advice given once a full application is received.   

 
 

5. IMPLICATIONS 
 

Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  
proposals  

Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to 
address  

Legal/Governance 

 

Y Paragraphs 188 - 195 of the National 

Planning Policy Framework set out that 
Local Planning Authorities should engage 

with a pre-application process. 
The EIR 2004 Regulations provide a 
presumption of disclosure for information 

including pre-apps 

Financial 

 

N There are no direct financial implications 

of the contents of the report. 

Risk Y As outlined in section 4.0 of the report 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 

Equality and 
Diversity 

N  

Safeguarding N  

Community 

Safety, Crime 
and Disorder 

N  

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing 

N  

Other 

implications 

N  

 

 

 
Appendices:  

 
Appendix 1 – Proposed Pre-App procedure 
Appendix 2 – Approved Pre-App fees from 01/04/18 

 
 





APPENDIX 1 

 WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL – PRE-APPLICATION ADVICE 

APRIL 2018 – DRAFT FOR CONSULTATION 

 

1. Overview 

1.1 Any advice given by Council officers in response to pre-application (pre-app) enquiries 

does not indicate a formal decision by the Council as local planning authority.  Any views 

or opinions expressed are given in good faith, and to the best of ability, without prejudice 

to the formal consideration of any planning application following statutory public 

consultation, the issues raised and evaluation of all available information.   

 

1.2 The response given at pre-app does not bind the Council to a decision and officers 

cannot give guarantees about the final formal decision that will be made on planning or 

related applications. It will aim to give developers/applicants very clear advice about 

whether Council officers will recommend approval for a scheme, and how it may need 

to change to be supported by a recommendation. A charge is made for this service. 

1.3 Pre-app advice is given in accordance to the circumstances at that time and is subject 

to the proviso that circumstances and information may change or come to light that could 

alter the position.  

1.4  If following a pre-app enquiry, a subsequent planning application is made on the site, 

the pre-app together with any response made by the Council will be made available for 

public inspection.  If at any time the Local Planning Authority receives a request, under 

the Freedom of Information Act (FOI) or Environmental Information Regulations (EIR), 

to disclose information relating to this pre-application enquiry they are obliged to do so 

unless the information is deemed exempt under the Act.  We can only withhold 

information under FOI or EIR if the information falls under one of the exemptions (FOI) 

or exceptions (EIR) set out in legislation. For certain pre-application issues the applicant 

would be advised to complete the section in the application form setting out why they 

consider the matter to be sensitive and should set out the reasons why, and for how 

long, they feel any information relating to the case needs to remain confidential. 

However, whilst we will take account of these views, the final decision on whether the 

information should be withheld rests with the Council. The Council maintains compliance 

to the Data Protection Act and we will not release any personal information to third 

parties. 



2. Introduction 

2.1 Open and constructive pre-application discussions are an opportunity for the Council 

and applicants to work together to achieve developments that deliver benefits to the 

individual, community, environment and the economy. This can save time and costs and 

optimise the potential of a site. 

 

2.2 Benefits of pre-application enquiries and discussions include: 

• Saving time and resources 

• Raising the quality of development 

• Speeding up the validation process 

• Gaining community acceptance through engagement 

• Reducing the number of unsuccessful planning applications 

• Identifying the need for specialist input earlier 

• Provide sufficient information to support final application 

 

2.3 The more issues that can be resolved at pre-application stage, the greater the 

benefits. For the planning system to be effective and positive, statutory planning 

consultees must take the same early, pro-active approach, and provide advice in a 

timely manner. This assists in issuing timely decisions, helping to ensure that there 

are no unnecessary delays and costs.  

 

2.4 With this in mind, West Devon Borough Council will expect developers and 

applicants to be open and positive in their engagement with communities and follow 

the Council’s expectations for community engagement as set out in Section 7 below. 

Communities have a key role in identifying issues and opportunities around 

community facilities. The pre-app process and interaction between developers and 

applicants, local communities and the LPA will allow those communities to express 

their thoughts and opinions on scale, nature and form of development in a way that 

is proportionate to the scale of the development proposal. 

 
2.5 Developers and applicants will be expected to consider all suggestions brought 

forward through the community consultation process and to set out detailed 

explanation and reasoning why they have either incorporated or excluded 

community suggestions and opinion. 

 
 



 

3. The cost of a pre-application 

3.1 Planning application fees do not cover the cost of a pre-application advice service and 

Council’s may charge for this service. To provide a quality pre-application advice service 

the Council does charge for advice and the fee schedule is set out in the attached 

schedule. 

 

4. What Information is required with a pre-app 

4.1 All pre-apps must be submitted using the pre-app application form that is available on 

the Council website and the appropriate fee must be paid.  In addition to the application 

form and required fee, you are required to send us as a minimum: 

• A site location plan, clearly identifying the site in question 

• A sketch plan showing the proposed development work  

• Photographs of the site if they would help to put the development in context 

• A summary of any community consultation that has been carried out 

 

4.2 The application form has more detail on what you need to send us. The level of additional 

detail required will be dictated by the complexity of the proposal. However, the more 

information you can give us initially, the more detailed and comprehensive the response 

from officers can be. 

 
5. Pre-application Process 

5.1 Within 10 working days of receiving a pre-application submission the Council will contact 

the applicant by either telephone or email to confirm that the pre-app has been received 

and that the correct fee has been paid.  If the correct fee has not been paid this will be 

advised and the correct fee requested.  If the correct fee has not been received the pre-

app will be held in abeyance until the correct fee is received.  The name of the case 

officer will be provided and a date for a meeting, either in the office or on site will be 

arranged. 

 

5.2 The timescales for the Council to respond to pre-app submissions will depend upon the 

complexity of the proposal, the need to consult other statutory technical consultees and 

whether further information is required.  The timescale for an initial response to a pre-

app submission to acknowledge receipt and arrange a meeting with the case officer is 

set out in the table below, according to the nature and complexity of the pre-app.   

 



The timescale for a full response will be agreed between the case officer and the 

applicant at the initial meeting.  The starting point for the proposed timescales is the 

receipt of a pre-app, with the correct fee and information requested on the form. 

 

 

Action Target timescales 

Householder 

or Advert 

Small Scale 

Minor 

Large 

scale 

Minor 

Small scale 

Major 

Large  

scale 

Major 

Register, allocate 

to case officer and 

contact applicant to 

arrange meeting 

Within 2 weeks from receipt 

 

Scoping Meeting 

(if requested) and 

the circulation of 

notes for 

agreement after 

the scoping 

meeting. 

 

N/A 

Scoping meeting to take place within 4 weeks of the 

receipt.  Notes from the meeting to be circulated for 

agreement within 7 days of the meeting – unless agreed 

otherwise at the scoping meeting. 

 

Pre-app meeting 

with officer either in 

office or on site 

 

Within 4 weeks of 

receipt. 

 

Within 4 weeks of 

receipt or within 2 weeks 

of receiving the 

information agreed as 

required at a scoping 

meeting 

 

 

Within 5 weeks of 

receipt or within 3 

weeks of 

receiving the 

information 

agreed as 

required at a 

scoping meeting 

 

As agreed 

in a PPA 

Formal response to 

pre-app 

Within 6 weeks 

from receipt or a 

period agreed at 

the pre-app 

meeting. 

Within 3 weeks from the 

date of the meeting or a 

period as agreed at the 

pre-app meeting. 

With timescale 

agreed at the pre-

app meeting 

 

 

As agreed 

in a PPA 



 

5.3 The purpose of a Scoping meeting is to establish initially whether the proposal is 

acceptable in principle in the context of planning policy.  A scoping meeting will not 

consider any technical matters, including highways access or landscape impact and the 

advice given will be notwithstanding any technical matters that may arise later.  No 

consultation is undertaken with external agencies.  The scoping meeting will also 

establish the additional matters and details that will need to be considered if the matter 

is considered at a full pre-app stage.  The Scoping meeting is a desktop exercise and 

will take place at the Council offices. 

 

5.4 The Council recognise that there is benefit to early engagement with elected members 

within the planning process, including the pre-app process.  Members will receive a 

weekly list of the pre-application submissions that have been received and once a full 

pre-app meeting has been arranged the relevant Ward Members will be advised of the 

date and time of the meeting.  Should the Ward Member(s) wish to attend the meeting 

they should contact the case officer to arrange attendance.  Members who attend any 

pre-app meeting should avoid expressing any detailed opinion or prior view which might 

be viewed as pre-determination and should following the Members Planning Code of 

Good Practice. An electronic copy of the pre-app submission will be provided to local 

Ward Members upon email request.  In the event of a Member making a request to be 

kept informed of progress of a specific pre-app, the Case Officer will ensure that the 

Member is kept informed. 

 

5.5 The full pre-app meeting could take place on site or at the Council Offices depending on 

the specific nature of the pre-app.  If the meeting is at the office, the case officer will visit 

the site in advance of the meeting.  There will not be a full written response to a scoping 

meeting, but written notes of the discussion will be circulated for agreement. 

 

5.6 If an application is subsequently submitted following any pre-application advice being 

given, once the new application is registered, the pre-application submission and the 

response from the Council will be published on the Council Website with the application 

documents. 

 

6. What advice is provided to a Pre-App Enquiry 

6.1 The Case Officer will undertake the following: 

• Research the history of the site.  

• Undertake an unaccompanied site visit prior to the pre-app meeting, if required.  



• Identify and assess the prospective application against Council policies and 

standards. 

• Highlight the need for further investigations or key groups that need to be 

consulted.  

• Provide a detailed written response to a full pre-app meeting in context to the 

information supplied, and specific questions asked in the initial enquiry and at 

meetings as far as practicable, which would include an opinion as to whether or 

not a planning application would be worth pursuing.  

• Advise on the appropriate level of community engagement 

• Provide written feedback from Members, the Local Council and local residents 

received if a Pre-application Community Engagement Forum is held. 

 

7. Community engagement in the pre-app process 

7.1 One of the core planning principles set out in the National Planning Policy 

Framework (NPPF) is that planning should empower local people to shape their 

surroundings. The NPPF also states that applicants should be encouraged to 

engage with the local community before submitting their applications.  

 

7.2 Communities have a key role to play in identifying issues and opportunities arising from 

development in their area. The Council is therefore committed to encouraging 

developers to engage with communities, where appropriate as part of the pre-application 

process. Engagement is expected to be open and positive and consideration given to 

all suggestions brought forward with feedback as to how and why these can or cannot 

be incorporated in the final plans. Council Officers and Members and other stakeholders 

should be involved in the engagement process to provide a joined-up approach.  

 

7.3 The level of engagement should be proportionate to the size, type, scale and location of 

the development. Below is set out the Council’s recommended engagement process 

based on some of these factors. This does not preclude additional engagement or 

consultation where agreed by the parties involved or felt necessary to address specific 

issues that arise. 

 

Minor Development 

7.4 If the pre-application enquiry relates to Minor development, whilst this type of 

development can be small scale there should be some form of engagement with those 

affected by it. In some communities even a small number of additional dwellings may be 

considered significant.    



In all cases we recommend the applicant consults with those landowners or residents 

whose property bounds the proposed development area and any other local landowners 

or residents who may be affected by the development. This will assist the applicant in 

gaining understanding from their close neighbours and potentially avoid objections to 

the scheme. 

 

7.5 Where more than 3 dwellings are being proposed and these are in a rural parish or 

smaller local centre, where such development could be considered significant, or 

where additional infrastructure/facilities are being delivered that will have an impact 

on the community as a whole it is recommended that the applicant attend a Parish 

Council meeting to discuss their proposals and likely timescales for application and 

delivery and whether wider community engagement is appropriate. 

Major Development 

7.6 As part of the scoping meeting for major developments the case officer will set out the 

expectations of the Council regarding the extent of community engagement to enable 

the local community to be involved in shaping and influencing the development.  

 

7.7 For major developments the Council would expect the developer to demonstrate that 

the community has had a reasonable level of involvement in shaping the development. 

The following three stage process is suggested for large scale major development, 

although the developer may choose to undertake additional engagement and, 

particularly on some larger or more complex sites with a variety of infrastructure 

requirements or in local centres where such development is deemed very significant.   

 

7.8 Stage one: Attendance at a Town or Parish Council meeting  

The developer should advise the Town or Parish Council that they have commenced 

discussions with the District Council on the site. They should discuss the options for the 

development, any draft proposals they have and likely timescales for application and 

delivery and agree with the Town or Parish Council how and when the community will 

be engaged in shaping the development. 

 

7.9 Stage two: Community Engagement Event  

Whilst the exact format of the event will be left to the developer to agree with the Town 

or Parish Council in consultation with the local Ward Members, they will need to 

demonstrate that the community has been enabled to participate in the engagement 



process by holding any event at an appropriate time, in an accessible location providing 

the right level of detail to enable the community to help shape and inform the 

development. An open day/ drop in event is more likely to result in a larger take-up from 

all sections of the community than a shorter public meeting. Developers will be expected 

to ask the community for their views and suggestions on options and plans for the 

development, and share any of their own emerging plans inviting comment on these. 

Where possible anticipated timescales for submission of the application and 

development of the site should be provided.  The community views will need to be 

collated in order to provide feedback.  Developers may wish to consider a simple form 

for this purpose and this and other documentation should be made available on-line 

through the Town or Parish Council website so that those unable to attend can comment 

on the proposals. Both parties may also decide that an on-line survey is appropriate.   

 

7.10 Stage three: Development Forum 

Where deemed necessary and agreed as part of the pre-application process, key 

stakeholders will be invited to the Development Forum where the developer will need to:  

• Provide feedback on options, suggestions, comments and issues raised by the 

community at the previous stages of the engagement process demonstrating 

how the developer proposes to address these. Where options suggested by the 

community cannot be progressed or accommodated reasons should be given. 

This feedback should also be made available on the Town or Parish Council 

website.  

• Present final proposed plans and timescales to the forum.  

• Answer any questions raised and indicate when feedback will be provided on 

any outstanding issues.  

 

7.11 Development Forums are to be held during the pre-application stage of the development 

process in order to help all people involved in making a decision understand fully both 

the nature of the proposal and the issues involved with major, complex and controversial 

developments.  They enable a developer to explain proposals directly to the elected 

Members and officers of the District Council, Town/Parish Councils, stakeholders and 

the community and enable the developer to shape a scheme to address community 

concerns and to provide adequate information to assist the decision takers to envisage 

the scheme and its impacts. 

 



7.12 A Development Forum also provides a structured way in which Members can be involved 

in pre-application discussions without the risk of pre-determination and enable a 

developer to explain proposals directly to the elected Members and officers of the District 

Council, Town/Parish Councils, stakeholders and the community, addressing 

community concerns and providing adequate information to assist the decision takers to 

envisage the scheme and its impacts.  

 

7.13 DEVELOPMENT FORUM PROCESS  

The Development Forum will be a meeting arranged by the Council to facilitate the 

explanation and examination of a development proposal, prior to an application being 

made.  Responsibility for deciding which schemes will be presented to a Development 

Forum will rest with the Council’s Community of Practice Lead (DM) in consultation with 

the Chairman of the Development Management Committee who would normally chair 

the Development Forum meeting. 

 

7.14 Generally, Development Forum meetings will be held at the Council Chamber at 

Killworthy House, Tavistock. In exceptional circumstances, and where practicable, such 

Forum meetings may be held in venues close to the development site at the discretion 

of the CoP Lead (DM) in consultation with the Chairman of the Development 

Management Committee. Publicity/notification of a Development Forum meeting will be 

given between three to four weeks before the meeting.  

 

7.15 Development Forum meetings will be held in public, where a full record of the 

proceedings will be taken and the minutes/notes of the meeting will be published on the 

web site.  An attendance list will be circulated at the Forum meeting for the voluntary 

completion by all attendees, including name (and organisation if applicable), 

email/postal address and reason for attendance at the meeting. In voluntarily completing 

the attendance list, attendees are agreeing to provide contact information to help with 

the running of this event and to enable the Council to notify attendees of final 

minutes/notes of the Forum meeting and/or any other pertinent information and details. 

It should be noted that any attendees who speak at the meeting will have their name 

included in the minutes/notes.  

 

7.16 Member attendance and involvement at Development Forum meetings will be subject 

to normal 'interest' considerations. Development Forum meetings will be for information 

purposes only, i.e. no predetermination, or prejudicing of a future decision until all 

material considerations have been considered.  



 

7.17 Development Forum meetings will be led by the Chairman and a planning officer, with 

other officers in attendance as appropriate (e.g. landscape, ecology, housing, highways, 

drainage, ).  The developer (and team) will be invited to present the scheme subject to 

a time limit. Generally, this time limit will not exceed 40 minutes.  Each stakeholder and 

stakeholder representatives (e.g. Town/Parish Council representatives, local community 

group representatives), who have been invited to and accepted the invitation to speak 

at the Forum meeting, will be permitted up to 5 minutes to make comments and provide 

feedback on the developer’s presentation and scheme as proposed.  

 

7.18 Open questions by Members seeking clarification about aspects of the proposed 

scheme can be directed to the developer (and team), speakers and officers.  A planning 

officer will summarise the main issues arising from the proposal and will explain what 

will happen next.  

 

7.19 Minutes/notes of a Development Forum meeting will be forwarded to all Members, 

stakeholders (or their representatives) and attendees and will be published on the 

District Council’s website. 

 

7.20 The Development Forum is NOT a decision making body. For clarity, it is the separate 

Development Management Committee which makes the final decision on any submitted 

planning application, NOT the Development Forum. 

 

8. Definitions 

8.1 For the purposes of the pre-application process that following definitions apply: 

• Small  Minor: 1-2 Dwellings or non-residential floor space up to 499 sqm, 

telecommunications, Lawful Development Certificate Advice and changes 

of use except dwellings, where there is no operational development 

• Minor Development: between 3 – 9 dwellings or non-residential floor 

space between 500 – 999 sqm or a site area up to 1 Ha. 

• Small Scale Majors: up to 30 dwellings or Non-Residential floor space 

between 1000 – 4999 sqm or a site area between 1 – 2 Ha 

• Large Majors: Over 31 dwellings or Non-Residential floor space over 

500sqm or a site area over 2 Ha all renewable energy proposals unless a 

domestic scale and all development that requires an EIA 

 



 





       Appendix 2 

 

 
Pre-Application Fees 

 
£180 plus £180 for 
any additional 
meeting/response 
required 
 

 
Householder/Listed Building/Advertisements  
 
one meeting with a written response  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
£180 
 
 
 
 
£420 (£240 if it 
follows a scoping 
meeting) plus 
£180 for any 
additional meeting 
or response 
 
 
 

 
Small  Minor (1-2 Dwellings or non-residential 
floor space up to 499 sqm, 
telecommunications, Lawful development 
Certificate Advice and changes of use except 
dwellings, where there is no operational 
development) 
 
One Scoping meeting with agreed notes from the 
meeting 
 
 
 
Full pre-app – one meeting plus a written 
response.  

 
 
 
 

 
 



       Appendix 2 

 

 
£240 
 
 
£600 (£360 if it 
follows a scoping 
meeting) plus 
£180 for any 
additional meeting 
or response 
 

Minor Development (between 3 – 9 dwellings 
or non-residential floor space between 500 – 
999 sqm or a site area up to 1 Ha) 
 
One Scoping meeting with agreed notes from the 
meeting 
 
Full pre-app – one meeting plus a written 
response. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
£480 
 
 
£1800 (£1320 if it 
follows a scoping 
meeting). Or a 
specific PPA. 

 
Small Scale Majors (up to 30 dwellings or Non-
Residential floor space between 1000 – 4999 
sqm or a site area between 1 – 2 Ha) 
 
One Scoping meeting with agreed notes from the 
meeting 
 
Full pre-app – two meetings plus a written 
response.  If more than two meetings are required 
the pre-app will be the subject of a specific PPA. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



       Appendix 2 

 

 
£720 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Specific PPA 
 

Large Majors (Over 31 dwellings or Non-
Residential floor space over 500sqm or a site 
area over 2 Ha all renewable energy proposals 
unless a domestic scale and all development 
that requires an EIA) 
 
One Scoping meeting with agreed notes from the 
meeting 
 
Full Pre-app 
 
 

 
Exemptions: 

 
No Charge 

 
100% Affordable Housing schemes 
 

  
No Charge 

 
Facilities for the disabled 
 

  
No Charge 

 
Parish/Town Council 
 

Pre-App Charges Notes:   
Floor space refers to gross external floor space 
The fee stated are inclusive of VAT 
 
For the purposes of pre-app fees flats and holiday 
accommodation are considered as dwellings. 
 
Fees will be the subject of review 
 

 




	Agenda
	4 Confirmation of Minutes
	7 Corporate Strategy - Cllr Sanders
	Appendix A

	8 Annual Report - Cllr Sanders
	Appendix A

	9 Regulatory Reform Policy on Disabled Facilities Grants - Cllr Moody
	Policy

	10 Development Management Pre Application Advice - Cllr Mott
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2


